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Chairman’s Message

Service.The spirit of

Stamford Hotels.

Stamford Land Corporation's group net profits
rose by 60.1% to $33.4 million from $20.8 million
in the previous financial year. Group revenue saw
a 38.1% increase to $298.0 million from $215.8
million.
The hotel segment's operating profits rose by 5.0%
to $33.1 million. The Group's hotel revenue per
available room posted a healthy 11.7% increase
over the previous financial year. Hotel revenue,
however, saw a marginal drop of 2.5% to $198.5
million. This decrease in revenue was due to
Stamford Plaza Auckland's four-month closure and
the translation of revenue denominated in Australian
and New Zealand currencies into Singapore dollar
at lower average exchange rates.
The Group's stronger performance is due mainly
to the recognition of the sale of 61 residential units
of the Stamford Marque development that
contributed $13.6 million pre-tax profit and $85.2
million in revenue. In total, the Property
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Development and investment segment contributed
$87.1 million to Group revenue.
In view of our good performance, the Board is
recommending a First and Final Dividend of 2.0
cents per ordinary share before tax and a special
dividend of 1.0 cent per ordinary share before tax.
The total dividend payout would amount to about
$21,250,000.

Hotel business improves
The hotel business accounts for 78.4% of Group
operating profits. Our stable of seven Australian
luxury hotels all improved on their performance
- offering the irresistible combination of superior
locations in gateway cities, superb facilities and
splendid services. There was strong domestic
demand for hotel accommodation, bolstered by a
thriving Australian economy and, in particular,
fuelled by the boom in the commodities sector.

Mr Ow Chio Kiat
Executive Chairman

C h a i r m a n ’ s
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We are the market leader as the largest independent
owner and operator of luxury hotels in Australasia,
proudly upholding the Stamford reputation for
excellence. Many of our hotels have received
accolades including Luxury Travel Magazine's
naming of Stamford Plaza Brisbane in its Gold
List of top Australian hotels.
One of our key strengths is the autonomy we
enjoy as the owner-operator of all our hotels. It
enables us to respond nimbly to customer needs
and we are always mindful of minimising costs
whilst achieving greater operational efficiency.
To enhance our hotels' appeal to discerning guests,
we have spared no efforts in upgrading our facilities.
For instance, Stamford Plaza Auckland has
completed a NZ$10-million refurbishment, further
enhancing its iconic image as the city's landmark
hotel. It was the only hotel in the Group that did
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not perform well because it was closed for four
months due to refurbishment works and the ongoing construction of the Stamford on Albert
residences above the hotel. However, the hotel is
regaining the confidence of the guests as the
building works progress. To counter the corporate
business shortfall, we are successfully attracting
Japanese groups.

Exciting property developments
The Group has a track record for driving growth
through astute property investments and property
re-development to maximize their potential. For
instance, we had bought prime land at 240 St
Georges Terrace in Perth 10 years ago and sold
two-thirds of it at an appreciably higher value.
Some 3,229 square metres of the land was retained
for our own development.

Today, the land price has risen at least two-fold
and we are building a 14-storey office tower that
will release 14,000 square metres of retail and office
space. The city is experiencing robust growth in
the mining industry and it is starved of commercial
space. Our office tower, designed by Kann Finch
Architects, is planned for completion within two
years.

Stamford on Albert Residences is yet another
example of how the Group maximises on the
potential of our existing property. Built above the
Stamford Plaza Auckland, it comprises 149 units
spread over 10 floors.We are confident that Stamford
on Albert Residences will be a very profitable
project especially since there was no land cost and
no need to incur costs for foundation works.

In Sydney, we are developing a substantial upmarket residential, retail and commercial complex
that cleverly blends old and new architecture. It is
located at 171-193 Gloucester Street in The Rocks
- Sydney's old town quarter. This charming hub
is famous for its historic ambience, interesting
eating and drinking places, great shopping and a
host of other fascinating attractions. Given its
excellent views and unique location, we are
confident of the development's success.
Over in New Zealand, two show apartments of
Stamford on Albert Residences will soon be
completed for the sales launch in September this
year. We expect this prime residential Auckland
development - with its coveted landmark address
- to be well received. It offers a privileged lifestyle,
combining the excitement and convenience of
city dwelling with the serenity of luxury living.
There are no competing developments in the
vicinity.

Stamford on Albert Residences at
Auckland offers a

Privileged lifestyle
combining the excitement and
convenience of city dwelling with the
serenity of luxury living.
C h a i r m a n ’ s
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Chairman’s Message

We are always proud to deliver quality excellence
and Stamford on Albert Residences is built
with impeccable attention paid to every detail.
Construction is progressing well and we are
on target to complete the development in
September 2008.

Prospects
Barring unforeseen circumstances, the Group
expects better overall performance from our hotel
operations. Anticipated sale of the remaining 22
units in Stamford Marque would also contribute
positively to our bottom-line.
Most of our business is entrenched in Australia
that has one of the strongest economies in the
world with healthy GDP growth, budget surplus
and low inflation.The boom in the resource sector
will continue to augur well for most of our
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Australian hotels. Moreover, air travel is anticipated
to be generally cheaper with increased seat
availability that would impact positively on hotel
room demand.
About 75% of our hotel business is from domestic
business travellers and we are reinforcing our
marketing efforts in the meetings, incentives,
conferences and exhibitions (MICE) sector.
The Group is also actively looking out for new
investment opportunities in the region to propel
growth, focusing on our core hospitality and
property business.We are ever mindful of enhancing
shareholder value in every way that we can.
The Company is studying the feasibility of
unlocking shareholders' value through the
establishment of a hospitality real estate investment
trust in Singapore.

Appreciation
Mr Harold Foo will be retiring at the coming
AGM and will not be seeking re-election. We
thank Mr Harold Foo for his valuable contributions
as our Board member since 22 March 1991.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank our
Board members as well as our team of dedicated
management and staff for your invaluable
contributions. Together, we will work towards
even more good years ahead. My appreciation also
goes to our customers and shareholders for your

loyal support. Your confidence in the Group
motivates us to strive for greater excellence.

Ow Chio Kiat
Executive Chairman
July 2007

C h a i r m a n ’ s
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Board of Directors
Mr Ow Chio Kiat
Mr Ow is the Executive Chairman of Stamford Land Corporation
Ltd (“SLC”). He is also the Executive Chairman of Singapore Shipping
Corporation Limited (“SSC”) and Cougar Logistics Corporation Ltd.
(“CLC”). Mr Ow is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Shipbrokers.

Mr Ow Cheo Guan
Mr Ow is Executive Deputy Chairman of SLC. He is also the Executive
Deputy Chairman of SSC and CLC and a director of most of SSC
and CLC’s subsidiaries. Mr Ow is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Shipbrokers.

Mr Wong Hung Khim
Mr Wong holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) (Physics) from the
University of Singapore and attended the Advanced Management
Programme of Harvard Business School in 1980. He was a senior civil
servant, having served as Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Community
Development, Executive Director of the then Port of Singapore
Authority, Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Singapore
Telecommunications Limited and Executive Chairman of Jurong Town
Corporation. He was conferred the Meritorious Service Medal in
1992 by the Singapore Government and the Medal of Commendation
(Gold) in 1995 by the National Trades Union Congress.
Until 31 December 2002, Mr Wong was the Group Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Delgro Corporation Ltd and SBS Transit
Ltd and many of their subsidiaries.
Mr Wong is currently an independent director of Medi-Flex Ltd.
8
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Mr Bobby Chin Yoke Choong
Mr Chin holds a Bachelor of Accountancy from the University of
Singapore and is a Chartered Accountant of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr Chin is a registered member
of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.
Mr Chin was the Managing Partner of KPMG Singapore from 1992
until his retirement from KPMG Singapore in September 2005.
Mr Chin serves as a Board member of several listed companies including
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Ltd, AV Jennings Limited,
The Straits Trading Company Ltd, Yeo Hiap Seng Limited, Ho Bee
Investment Limited and Neptune Orient Lines Ltd. He is also the
Chairman of the Singapore Totalisator Board and a Board member of
the Competition Commission of Singapore.

Mr Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Mr Foo holds a Bachelor of Economics with Business Administration
(Honours) from the University of Singapore. He was formerly Executive
Vice President of the Security Pacific Asian Bank and was responsible
for its operations in Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand and Indonesia. He
is a director of several private companies in Singapore.

B o a r d

o f

D i r e c t o r s
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Corporate Information
Board of Directors

Share Registrar

Ow Chio Kiat (Executive Chairman)
Ow Cheo Guan (Executive Deputy Chairman)
Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Wong Hung Khim
Bobby Chin Yoke Choong

M & C Services Private Limited
138 Robinson Road #17-00
The Corporate Office
Singapore 068906

Auditors
Executive Committee
Ow Chio Kiat (Chairman)
Ow Cheo Guan
Wong Hung Khim

Audit Committee
Bobby Chin Yoke Choong (Chairman)
Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Wong Hung Khim

Remuneration Committee
Wong Hung Khim (Chairman)
Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Bobby Chin Yoke Choong

Nominating Committee
Harold Foo Chee Hiang (Chairman)
Ow Chio Kiat
Bobby Chin Yoke Choong

Company Secretary
Rebecca Marie Stephanie Tai-Yeo Hsiu Erh

200 Cantonment Road
#09-01 Southpoint
Singapore 089763

A n n u a l

R e p o r t

Principal Bankers
Australia and New Zealand
Banking Group Limited
1 Raffles Place
#32-00 OUB Centre
Singapore 048616
Credit Suisse
1 Raffles Link #05-02
Singapore 039393
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
65 Chulia Street
#10-00 OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513
United Overseas Bank Limited
80 Raffles Place
UOB Plaza 1
Singapore 048624

Registered Office
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RSM Chio Lim
Certified Public Accountants
18 Cross Street #08-01
Marsh & McLennan Centre
Singapore 048423
Partner-in-charge: Mr Peter Jacob
Date of Appointment: 22 August 2003
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Corporate Structure
Hotel Owning & Management

Property Development & Investment

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Atrington Trust
Stamford Cairns Trust
Dickensian Holdings Ltd
Stamford Gold Coast Trust
Goldenlines Investments Limited
Stamford Heritage Pty Ltd
Grand Hotel Unit Trust
Stamford Hotels & Resorts Pte. Ltd.
HSH (Australia) Trust
Stamford Hotels (NZ) Limited
HSH Contractors Pte Ltd
Stamford Hotels and Resorts
Pty Limited
K.R.M.F.C. Pty Ltd
Stamford Hotels Pty Ltd
Stamford Mayfair Limited
Loftus Trust
Stamford Plaza Sydney Management
Pty Limited
Logan Trust
Stamford Raffles Pty Ltd
Minteyville Lt Collins Street Pty Ltd
MLCS Trust
Stamford Sydney Airport Pty Ltd
North Ryde Investments Limited
Terrace Hotel (Operations) Pty Ltd
Ovenard Trust
The Grand Hotel (S.A.) Pty Ltd
RGA Trust
TIA Trust
Sir Stamford at Circular Quay Pty Ltd
Sir Stamford Hotels & Resorts Pte Ltd
SNR Trust

Fontelle Trust
Knoxville Trust
SHR Kent St Trust
HSH Properties Pte Ltd
Stamford Property Services
Pty. Limited
• Plantique Investment Pte Ltd
• Stamford Raffles Trust

Trading
• Singapore Wallcoverings Centre
(Private) Limited
• Sterling Credit Pte Ltd
• Varimerx S.E. Asia Pte Ltd
• Voyager Travel Pte Ltd

Others
•
•
•
•

HSH Tanker Inc.
SLC Property Services Pte Ltd
Stamford Land Management Pte Ltd
Stamford Land (International) Pte Ltd

C o r p o r a t e

I n f o r m a t i o n

&

S t r u c t u r e
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Five-Year Group Financial Summary
Results of Operations

All Figures in $'000
2003
Revenue

206,694

Operating Profit
Exceptional Items
Profit Before Tax
Income Tax Expense

5,263
15,074
20,337
(5,055)

Profit Attributable
to Shareholders

15,282

Group
Year ended 31 March
Restated
Restated
2004
2005
2006

2007

239,589*

211,571*

215,844

297,976

10,509*
(6,144)
4,365
(367)*

12,812*
0
12,812
(62)

20,896
0
20,896
(65)

33,388
0
33,388
(33)

3,998

12,750

20,831

33,355

Earnings per Share (cents)

1.8

0.5*

1.5*

2.4

3.9

Dividend per Share (cents)

1.5

1.5

1.5

3.0

3.0

* The prior years' figures have been restated to reflect the change in accounting policies.

Profit Attributable to Shareholders
($Million)

Revenue ($Million)
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2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

Financial Position

All Figures in $'000
2003
Property, Plant and Equipment
Investment Properties
Properties Under Development
Available-for-sale Investments
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred Tax Asset

Group
As at 31 March
Restated
Restated
2004
2005

2006

2007

450,101
3,453
35,190
1,048
150,416
(31,794)
(253,093)
19

525,608
4,130
53,209*
1,020
108,422
(35,739)
(248,452)
23*

527,570
0
75,587 *
712
92,641
(250,221)
(35,204)
23 *

469,574
0
121,569
200
67,310
(80,760)
(190,794)
21

486,990
14,270
101,262
328
127,139
(38,241)
(271,554)
22

Net Assets

355,340

408,221

411,108

387,120

420,216

Share Capital and Reserves

355,340

408,221*

411,108 *

387,120

420,216

Capital Employed

355,340

408,221

411,108

387,120

420,216

0.45

0.49

Net Tangible Assets
per Share ($)

0.41

0.47 *

0.48*

* The prior years' figures have been restated to reflect the change in accounting policies.

Net Assets ($Million)

Net Tangible Assets per Share ($)
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Operations Review
Hotel Ownership & Management
The Group’s hotel owning and management
business accounted for 66.6% of Group revenue.
This segment achieved a 5% increase in operating
profit to $33.1 million. Revenue saw a 2.5% drop
to $198.5 million due mainly to the four-month
closure of Stamford Plaza Auckland and the
translation of revenue denominated in Australian
and New Zealand dollars into Singapore dollars
at lower average exchange rates which contributed
a $7.4 million drop in revenue.
All the Group’s hotels improved on the previous
year’s performance except for Stamford Plaza
Auckland which was closed for refurbishment and
the residential development of Stamford on Albert
above the hotel. Revenue per available room
(revpar) for the Group’s hotels increased by 11.7%.

The multiple-award winning Stamford Plaza
Brisbane was once again voted one of Australia’s
best hotels. It made it to the Gold List of the
prestigious Luxury Travel Magazine. The hotel’s
profits increased by 17.5% due to continued strong
demand from the corporate sector and there was
no new room supply. Its revpar strengthened by
16.5% and occupancy rate was 5.6% higher.
Growth in Queensland’s resource sector
continued to boost corporate demand for hotel
accommodation. Major sporting events also
bolstered demand. Stamford Plaza Brisbane is the
hotel of choice given its convenient location in
the main financial district and its superior reputation.

Stamford Plaza
Brisbane

strikes Gold at the
Luxury Travel Magazine.
O p e r a t i o n s

R e v i e w
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Operations Review
The outlook for FY 2007/08 is somewhat more
challenging with fewer special events in the pipeline
and competition coming on-stream from a new
all-suite hotel opening in mid-2007. However, we
are confident of maintaining our lead in this market
as we are well-positioned in the corporate sector
and we offer superior product and services. Stamford
Plaza Brisbane will be refurbished for the greater
comfort of our guests including soft refurbishment
of guestrooms, the lobby and The Brasserie. LCD
televisions and high-speed broadband Internet
access will be available in all the guestrooms by
end-2007.
The Sydney hotel market lagged behind other
major cities due mainly to increases in hotel room
supply. Given this backdrop, all the Group’s three
Sydney hotels performed creditably.
Stamford Grand North Ryde, located in Sydney’s
northwest hi-tech commercial and technology
precinct, saw its profits improving by 28.1% and
increase in revpar by 11.6%. The hotel benefited
from the growth of business parks, relocation of
large companies from North Sydney and Parramatta
to North Ryde, as well as the increase in leisure
business from the Korean inbound market.

16
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The hotel is Sydney’s only all-suite resort style
hotel, offering guests an oasis of calm, and it is
conveniently located just 20 minutes away from
the bustling Central Business District. Known for
its casual elegance and excellent service, the hotel
was a finalist in the Australian Hotel Association
award for Superior Accommodation of the Year.
Prospects for FY 2007/08 are good in anticipation
of continued growth in corporate demand. The
surrounding business park community is growing
rapidly especially with Optus’ relocation of their
headquarters from North Sydney to North Ryde
in the last quarter of 2007. A newly opened road
tunnel and improved rail network connection to
Chatswood by the end of 2008 will give our hotel
even greater accessibility.
We are refurbishing the Parrot Bar and Restaurant
with a modern look to appeal to the techno-savvy
IT Park clientele and to continue attracting people
who prefer buffet dinning during the weekends.
There will be two levels of dinning area to increase
seating capacity and to capitalise on the view of
the courtyard oasis. The Bar will be completely
redesigned. Also, some 50 hotel rooms will be
upgraded to an even higher standard of luxury by
mid-2008.

Stamford Plaza at Brisbane is one of

Australia’s finest hotels

in the heart of Brisbane’s financial district,
attracting discerning guests with its
genteel charm.
O p e r a t i o n s

R e v i e w
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Operations Review
Sir Stamford at Circular Quay improved on its
performance. With stronger focus on sales and
marketing, the hotel’s profit increased by 53.2%
and revpar rose by 8.5%. Sir Stamford at Circular
Quay is one of Australia’s finest boutique hotels
in the heart of Sydney’s financial district, attracting
discerning guests with its genteel charm.The hotel
is a finalist in AHA awards for several categories
including Deluxe Accommodation of the Year,
Restaurant of the Year and Bar of the Year. We
expect Sir Stamford at Circular Quay to maintain
its good performance in the light of a stable
economy, dedicated management team and strong
marketing /sales focus.
Stamford Plaza Sydney Airport is the only FiveStar Hotel at Australia's busiest airport, catering to
a mix of business and leisure travelers. Its profits
decreased by 11.7% and revpar decreased by 7.1%

18
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due to the loss of a major airline customer. The
hotel has recently completed a soft refurbishment
of all its guest rooms and replaced all guest room
and corridor carpets.
The outlook for year 2007-08 appears to be
favourable as the hotel was able to secure a new
airline account and concerted efforts are being
made to increase the number of corporate guests.
Furthermore, sales resources are also directed
towards improving market share in the Meetings
and Conference sector.
The Adelaide hotel sector was the second best
performing market after Brisbane in 2006. The
opening of a new airport and multi-billion dollar
investments in the defence industry underscored
the sector’s buoyancy. Both Stamford Plaza Adelaide
and Stamford Grand Adelaide saw revpar

strengthening by 12.1% and 16.3% respectively
and profits up by 36.0% and 20.3% respectively.
Each hotel has its unique appeal. Stamford Plaza
Adelaide offers five-star luxury in the Central
Business District whilst Stamford Grand Adelaide
is a premier beach hotel with spectacular ocean
views. We expect both hotels to maintain their
good performance, in view of the buoyant economy
in South Australia - fuelled by the booming mining
sector.
Stamford Plaza Melbourne saw an increase in
revpar of 15.8%. Profits rose by 27.2%. The
hotel benefited from special events including
the G20 Finance Minister and Governors
Conference as well as FINA 12th World Swimming
Championships.

The hotel’s outlook is good with very little new
supply expected in FY2007/08.With Tiger Airlines
confirming Melbourne as their Australian base, air
traffic would increase and fares are expected to be
highly competitive.
Stamford Plaza Melbourne is undertaking
refurbishment projects including changing the
entire carpeting and remodelling the cocktail bar.
The rooms will be installed with LCD televisions.
Refurbishment is scheduled to complete by end
of 2008.
In New Zealand, Stamford Plaza Auckland was
closed on 1 June 2006 and reopened on 4 October.
The closure and the on-goning construction above
the hotel resulted in a revenue drop of NZ$9.9
million over the last financial year.

O p e r a t i o n s

R e v i e w
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Operations Review
Stamford Plaza Auckland has undergone an
upgrading that cost some NZ$10 million.
The main hotel lobby area has been totally
refurbished in a contemporary style. Two exciting
new restaurants have been added, including a stylish
“Kabuki” teppanyaki restaurant, and a bar.
After renovations, the hotel now has 282 rooms
and suites instead of 332 due to the conversion of
a part of the hotel for car parking space which
will be sold to the residents of Stamford on Albert,
the luxury apartments currently being developed
above the hotel. We expect the hotel to improve
significantly by the end of next year when the
noise level and construction activities are reduced.

Property Development & Investment
The property development & investment segment
recorded a significant increase in revenue to $87.1
million from $1.4 million in the previous financial
year due to recognition of revenue from the
Stamford Marque development. Operating profit
rose to $12.1 million from a loss of $259,000.
Stamford Marque, comprising 83 residential units,
was completed in November 2006 and 95% of
the units have been sold or are under contract as
at end May 2007. It is a prime development with
a sought-after location at the northern end of
Kent Street, near the famous The Rocks precinct.

Mixed residential-cumcommercial development
a new exciting Sydney development by the Group at the ‘Rocks’.

20
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The Opera House, art galleries and Botanic Gardens
are all within walking distance. Stamford Marque’s
quiet elegance, stunning city or harbour views,
well-appointed finishes and flexible space planning
add to its attraction.With property prices trending
up in the city, Stamford Marque is a highly profitable
project.
The Group is also embarking on another exciting
Sydney development - a mixed residential-cumcommercial development located at The Rocks.
One of the city’s and Australia’s best-known
landmarks, The Rocks’ offers unrivalled historic
charm and all kinds of exciting attractions that
draw both locals and foreign visitors. For retailers,

The Rocks promises to be a potentially highly
rewarding hub. The development offers an
impressive address at 171-193 Gloucester Street
for both residents and commercial/retail occupants.
The unique heritage two-storey Reynell Building,
which is part of the development, will be conserved
for adaptive re-use and will yield some 1,030 square
metres of office and retail space. Reynell Terrace,
comprising two levels of five luxurious terraces,
will be built above Reynell Building.

O p e r a t i o n s

R e v i e w
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In New Zealand, the luxury freehold residential
development of Stamford on Albert Residences is
on-going on top of Stamford Plaza Auckland hotel.
It comprises 149 units including 6 penthouses
spread over 10 floors. The hotel is a well-known
landmark in the city skyline and the residential
component will retain features of the existing
architecture, making it an even more dramatic icon
without losing its familiar distinctiveness.

Next to it, there will be a 30-storey tower with
about 420 square metres of retail and commercial
space on the first two levels. The 28 floors of
residential component, named The Stamford
Residences, will have some 122 residential
apartments and two penthouses. The entire
development is slated for completion in 2009.
The Group is also developing a new office building
in Perth on the site of 240 St Georges Terrace that
we bought 10 years ago. The office market in
Perth is hot due to lack of supply in the face of
a boom in the mining industry. Our 14-storey
building should be the first to be completed in
the city within two years’ time, yielding some
14,000 square metres of prime retail and office
space. Its address is 899-915 Hay Street, within the
Central Business District. The basement and
foundation works are already completed.

22
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Stamford on Albert Residences represents an
investment of appreciable value. The location, at
the centre of the Central Business District, is
unrivalled. Stamford on Albert Residences offers
residents a privileged lifestyle in New Zealand’s
largest and most cosmopolitan city. There is an
exciting galore of cultural, culinary and
entertainment delights nearby. Yet, Stamford on
Albert Residences is designed as a tranquil haven
and it has its own exclusive access that is separate
from the hotel operations. Splendid views of the
city and harbour further enhance the appeal of
this development.
Two show apartments should be completed by
September 2007 for the sales launch. The
development is expected for completion in
September 2008. We anticipate that it will be well
received as there are no new developments coming
on-stream in the Central Business District that
offers such a prominent address.

Trading
Our trading segment saw an operating profit
increase of 198.6% to $657,000 from $220,000 in
the previous year. This improved performance is
mainly due to the higher contributions from the

Group’s travel agency, Voyager Travel Pte Ltd. Our
interior decoration companies have turned around
with improved demand mainly from corporate
customers.

O p e r a t i o n s

R e v i e w
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Hotel Portfolio

Auckland

Stamford Plaza

Lower Albert Street, Auckland, New Zealand
Phone:
(64 9) 309 8888
Facsimile: (64 9) 379 6445
Email:
reservations@spak.stamford.com.au

Adelaide

Stamford Plaza

150, North Terrace, Adelaide, South Australia 5000
Phone:
(61 8) 8461 1111
Facsimile: (61 8) 8231 7572
Email:
reservations@spa.stamford.com.au

Brisbane

Stamford Plaza

Corner Edward & Margaret Streets, Brisbane, Queensland 4000
Phone:
(61 7) 3221 1999
Facsimile: (61 7) 3221 6895
Email:
reservations@spb.stamford.com.au
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Melbourne

Stamford Plaza

111 Little Collins Street, Melbourne Victoria 3000
Phone:
(61 3) 9659 1000
Facsimile: (61 3) 9659 0999
Email:
reservations@spm.stamford.com.au

Circular Quay

Sir Stamford at

93 Macquarie Street, Sydney, New South Wales 2000
Phone:
(61 2) 9252 4600
Facsimile: (61 2) 9252 4286
Email:
reservations@sscq.stamford.com.au

Adelaide

Stamford Grand

2 Jetty Road, Glenelg, South Australia 5045
Phone:
(61 8) 8376 1222
Facsimile: (61 8) 8376 1111
Email:
reservations@sga.stamford.com.au

H o t e l
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Hotel Portfolio

North Ryde

Stamford Grand

Corner Epping & Herring Roads, North Ryde,
New South Wales 2113
Phone:
(61 2) 9888 1077
Facsimile: (61 2) 9805 0655
Email:
reservations@snr.stamford.com.au

SydneyAirport

Stamford Plaza

241 O’Riordan Street, Mascot, New South Wales 2020
Phone:
(61 2) 9317 2200
Facsimile: (61 2) 9317 3855
Email:
reservations@ssa.stamford.com.au

Double Bay

Sir Stamford

22 Knox Street, Double Bay, New South Wales 2028
Phone:
(61 2) 9302 4100
Facsimile: (61 2) 9302 4140
Email:
reservations@ssdb.stamford.com.au
Managed by Stamford Hotels and Resorts Pty Limited

Double Bay

Stamford Plaza

33 Cross Street, Double Bay, New South Wales 2028
Phone:
(61 2) 9362 4455
Facsimile: (61 2) 9362 4744
Email:
reservations@spdb.stamford.com.au
Managed by Stamford Hotels and Resorts Pty Limited
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Brisbane
Auckland
Adelaide

Sydney
Melbourne

Hotels

Locations

Rooms

Rating

Tenure

Stamford Plaza Auckland

Auckland

282

5-star

Freehold

Stamford Plaza Adelaide

Adelaide

336

5-star

Freehold

Stamford Plaza Brisbane

Brisbane

252

5-star

Leasehold

Stamford Plaza Melbourne

Melbourne

283

5-star all suite

Freehold

Sir Stamford at Circular Quay

Sydney

105

5-star

Leasehold

220

41/2-star

Freehold

255

41/2-star

all suite Freehold

313

41/2-star

Freehold
Leasehold
Freehold

Stamford Grand Adelaide
Stamford Grand North Ryde
Stamford Plaza Sydney Airport

Adelaide
Sydney
Sydney

Sir Stamford Double Bay*

Sydney

73

41/2-star

Stamford Plaza Double Bay*

Sydney

140

5-star

* Managed by Stamford Hotels and Resorts Pty Limited

H o t e l
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Shareholder Calendar
July 2007

Financial year ended
31 March 2007 (FY 2007)
Annual General Meeting
Announcement of financial year ending
31 March 2008 (FY 2008)
first quarter results

August 2007
November 2007

Announcement of FY 2008
second quarter results

February 2008

Announcement of FY 2008
third quarter results

May 2008
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Announcement of FY 2008 full year results

Corporate Governance Statement
Stamford Land Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) is committed to complying with the Code of
Corporate Governance issued by the Corporate Governance Committee in March 2001 (as amended
in 2005) (the “Code”), so as to ensure greater transparency and protection of shareholders’ interests.
This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices that were in place or implemented
during the financial year.

1. BOARD MATTERS
a. Board’s conduct of its affairs
The current Board comprises five directors and their principal functions are as follows:
• Formulate corporate strategies, financial objectives and directions for the Group
• Ensure effective management leadership of the highest quality and integrity
• Provide oversight in the proper conduct of the Group’s businesses
• Oversee and/or evaluate the adequacy of the internal audit, risk management, financial
reporting and compliance processes
• Assume responsibility for corporate governance
The Board also deliberates and makes decisions on material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate restructuring, dividend payments and other returns to shareholders and on matters
that may involve a conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder as a director.
All new directors are given an orientation of the Group’s business and governance practice,
and all directors have access to information and further training on new developments, including
new laws, regulations and changing commercial risks, at the Company’s expense.
To efficiently discharge its responsibilities, the Board has established several board committees,
namely, the Executive Committee, Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Remuneration
Committee. These committees are given specific responsibilities and they are empowered by
the Board to deal with matters within the limits of authority set out in the terms of reference
of their appointments. They assist the Board operationally without the Board losing authority
over major issues.
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Corporate Governance Statement
The Board currently holds about four scheduled meetings each year to review and deliberate
on the key activities and business strategies of the Group, including significant acquisitions and
disposals, annual budget, financial performance and to endorse the release of the quarterly and
annual results. Where necessary, additional meetings may be held to address significant transactions
or issues arising from the business operations of the Group.
During the financial year, the Board held four meetings and the number of meetings attended
by each member of the Board is as follows:
Name of Director
Mr. Ow Chio Kiat (Executive Chairman)
Mr. Ow Cheo Guan (Executive Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Harold Foo Chee Hiang (Independent)
Mr. Wong Hung Khim (Independent)
Mr. Bobby Chin Yoke Choong (Independent)

Number of meetings attended
4
4
3
4
4

b. Board composition and balance
The Company believes that there should be a strong and independent element on the Board
in order for it to exercise objective judgment on business and corporate affairs. Hence, of the
five directors appointed, three are non-executive and independent. The Company also believes
that the non-executive and independent directors should be selected for their diverse expertise
so that they can provide a balance of view in the Board.
From the profiles of the Directors set out on pages 8 and 9 of this Annual Report, you would
note that the Board members have the appropriate mix of expertise and experience in the areas
of accounting, finance, business, management, industry knowledge and strategic planning.

c. Role of Executive Chairman (“Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
Mr. Ow Chio Kiat is the Chairman and CEO. The role of the Chairman is not separate from
that of the CEO as the Board believes that there is adequate accountability and transparency
as reflected in the internal controls established within the Group.
Executive Committee (“Exco”)
Moreover the Board has delegated to Exco the powers to supervise the management of the
Group’s business activities. The three members are:
Mr. Ow Chio Kiat
Mr. Ow Cheo Guan
Mr. Wong Hung Khim

Chairman (executive)
Member (executive)
Member (non-executive and independent)

Mr. Ow Cheo Guan is the Executive Deputy Chairman of the Company. The Executive
Chairman and the Executive Deputy Chairman are brothers.

30

A n n u a l

R e p o r t

2 0 0 6 / 0 7

Exco’s responsibilities include reviewing and approving investments or divestments, other than
operational expenditure or disposals that are conducted within the ordinary course of business.
The Chairman is assisted by the management team in the daily operations and administration
of the Group’s business activities and in the effective implementation of the Group’s business
strategies. The key personnel in the management team are the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”)
and Chief Operating Officer (“COO”). The CFO and COO are not related to the Chairman.
The Chairman also oversees the workings of the Board, ensuring that the Board is able to
perform its duties and that there is a flow of information between the Board and the management.
The Chairman reviews most of the board papers before they are presented to the Board. The
management staff who have prepared the papers, or who may provide additional insights, are
invited to present the papers or attend the board meetings.

d. Board membership
We believe that board renewal must be an on-going process to ensure good governance and
maintain relevance to the changing needs of the Group’s businesses.
Nominating Committee (“NC”)
To achieve a formal and transparent process for the appointment of directors to the Board, the
NC was set up on 1 September 2002. The NC is responsible for identifying and selecting new
directors. In compliance with the new Code requirements, the Chairman of the NC is an
independent director and is not associated with a substantial shareholder, and the majority of
the NC members are independent. It comprises two non-executive and independent directors
and one executive director, namely:
Mr. Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Mr. Ow Chio Kiat
Mr. Bobby Chin Yoke Choong

Chairman (non-executive and independent)
Member (executive)
Member (non-executive and independent)

The NC’s principal functions are as follows:
• Decide on and propose to the Board, for approval and implementation, the assessment
process including determining a set of objective performance criteria for evaluating the
Board’s performance from year to year
• Evaluate the Board’s effectiveness as a whole and the contribution of each director to the
effectiveness of the Board in accordance with the assessment process and performance criteria
mentioned above
• Consider, review and recommend to the Board any new Board appointments or reappointments of executive or non-executive directors
• Determine annually whether or not a director is independent in accordance with the
guidelines on independence as set out in the Code
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All the directors are subject to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association whereby
one-third of the directors are required to retire and subject themselves to re-election by
shareholders at every annual general meeting (“AGM”), (“one-third rotation rule”).
A newly appointed director will have to submit himself for re-election at the AGM immediately
following his appointment and, thereafter, he is subjected to the one-third-rotation rule.

e. Board performance
The fiduciary responsibilities of the Board include the following:
• Conduct itself with proper due diligence and care
• Act in good faith
• Comply with applicable laws
• Act in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times
In addition, the Board is charged with key responsibilities of leading the Group and setting
strategic directions.
The Company holds the belief that the Group’s performance and that of the Board are directly
related. The Company assesses the Board’s performance through its ability to steer the Group
in the right direction and the support it renders to the management during difficult times.
For the purpose of evaluating directors’ performance, the NC takes into consideration a number
of factors including the directors’ attendance, participation and contributions at the main board
and board committee meetings and other Company activities.
The NC uses its best efforts to ensure that directors appointed to the Board possess the necessary
background, experience, skills and knowledge in management, business and finance, critical
to the Group’s business; and that each director is able to contribute his perspective, thus allowing
effective decisions to be made.
The NC conducts informal reviews of the Board’s performance taking into account input from
the other Board members.

f. Access to information
The Board is provided with timely and complete information, prior to Board meetings and
as and when necessary. New members are briefed on the business activities of the Group.
The Board has separate and independent access to the senior management and the Company
Secretary at all times. If necessary, the Board may, in furtherance of their duties, obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.
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The Company Secretary attends all board meetings, ensures that established procedures and
regulatory requirements as well as board policies are complied with and that the directors
receive appropriate training as necessary.

2. REMUNERATION MATTERS
We believe in adopting a formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages
of the directors and key management so as to ensure that the level of remuneration should be
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors and key management needed to run
the Group’s business successfully.

a. Remuneration Committee (“RC”)
To achieve this formal and transparent process to evaluate the remuneration packages of the
directors and key management, the RC was formed. It comprises three directors, all of whom
are non-executive and independent directors. The members are:
Mr. Wong Hung Khim
Chairman (non-executive and independent)
Mr. Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Member (non-executive and independent)
Mr. Bobby Chin Yoke Choong*
Member (non-executive and independent)
*appointed as member on 25 May 2007
Mr. Ow Chio Kiat ceased to be a member of RC with effect from 25 May 2007.
The RC is responsible for the following:
• Reviewing and determining appropriate adjustments as well as approving the remuneration
of the non-executive directors, executive directors and senior executives
• Administering the Company’s Share Option Plan (”Option Plan”), Performance Share Plan
or any other share incentive scheme implemented by the Company, and delegating the dayto-day administration of such plan or scheme to such persons as the RC deems fit
• Assuming other duties (if any) that may be assigned to a remuneration committee of a
Singapore listed company under the Code, as the same may be revised from time to time
by the relevant body having charge of the Code, and adopted (as revised) by the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX”)
The RC meets at least once a year. In its deliberation on issues to be considered, the RC takes
into consideration industry practices and norms for remuneration packages. The RC may, in
furtherance of their duties, obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.
No director is involved in any discussion relating to his own remuneration, and terms and
conditions of service and the review of his performance.
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All directors are paid a fixed fee and additional fees are payable to a director for appointment
as a chairman or member of a particular committee. The recommendations made by the RC
in relation to such fees are subject to approval by the shareholders at the AGM.
In addition, all the directors except Mr. Ow Chio Kiat, are eligible to participate in the Option
Plan under the rules thereof. Additional information on both plans is set out in the Directors’
Report.

b. Disclosure on directors’ fees and remuneration
The directors’ fees and remuneration paid by the Group is as follows:
The Group
2007
2006
$’000
$’000
Paid/payable by the Group
Directors’ fees
• Directors of the Company
• Other directors
Directors’ remuneration
• Directors of the Company
• Other directors

The Company
2007
2006
$’000
$’000

208
24

200
23

190
-

183
-

1,941
1,059
3,232

1,292
957
2,472

285
475

289
472

The following table shows a breakdown (in percentage terms) of the remuneration of directors for
the year ended 31 March 2007:
Remuneration band
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Salary

Bonuses

%
$1,750,000 to $2,000,000
• Mr Ow Chio Kiat
Below $250,000
• Mr Ow Cheo Guan
• Mr Harold Foo Chee Hiang
• Mr Wong Hung Khim
• Mr Bobby Chin Yoke Choong
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Others

%

Directors’
Fees
%

%

Total
remuneration
%

43

53

3

1

100

72
-

-

25
100
100
100

3
-

100
100
100
100

c. Key executives and remuneration policy
The Company adopts a remuneration policy for staff comprising a fixed component and a
variable component. The fixed component is in the form of a base salary and allowances. The
variable component is in the form of a variable bonus that is linked to the Company and each
individual’s performance.
In addition, employees of the Group are eligible to participate in the Option Plan and
Performance Share Plan under the rules thereof. Additional information on both plans is set
out in the Directors’ Report.
Information on key executives:

Name and
Designation

Academic/Professional
Qualifications

No. of
years with
the Group

Mr Hui Kok Hong

• Bachelor of Business

26

Port Officer for the then Port
of Singapore Authority

12

Group Financial Controller
for First Capital Corporation
Ltd

7

Director for Prima Holdings
Pty Ltd and Prima
Developments Pty Ltd

6

Director of Operation for Bass
Hotels & Resorts

2

In private practice

Chief Operating Officer

Mr Tay Lai Wat
Chief Financial Officer

Mr Philip
Soon Choon Huat

(Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology)

• BA (Accountancy) (University of Sterling)
• Member of Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland
• Bachelor of Ministries

General Manager - Projects

• MA (Theology)

Mr Thomas Ong

• Certified Hotel Administrator

Group General Manager

• Member of International
Accountant (UK)

Prior Working Experience

• Advance Certificate in Business
Administration (University of Hong Kong)
Ms Rebecca Marie
Stephanie Tai-Yeo
Hsiu Erh
General Counsel

• Bachelor of Laws (University of Hull)
• Master of Laws
(Distinction)(University of Hull)

• Barrister-at-law (Middle Temple)
• Advocate and Solicitor (Singapore)

Remuneration bands of the top five employees (excluding executive directors of the Company)
of the Group are:
Remuneration bands
2007
2006
$250,000 to below $500,000
3
3
Below $250,000
2
2
5
5
There are no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a director.
C o r p o r a t e
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3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
In compliance with the Code, the Audit Committee (“AC”) comprising three non-executive and
independent directors was set up since 1 September 2002. Of the three members, not less than
two members have accounting or related financial management expertise or experience. The
members are:
Mr. Bobby Chin Yoke Choong
Mr. Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Mr. Wong Hung Khim

Chairman (non-executive and independent)
Member (non-executive and independent)
Member (non-executive and independent)

The AC performs the following main functions:
• Nominates the external auditors for appointment or re-appointment and reviews the level of
audit fees
• Reviews the audit plans and scope of work of the internal and external auditors
• Reviews the findings of the internal and external auditors and the response from management
• Reviews the internal and external auditors’ evaluation of the adequacy of the Group’s system
of accounting and internal controls
• Reviews any interested person transactions
• Reviews the Group’s quarterly and annual results’ announcements and the financial statements
of the Group and of the Company as well as the auditors report thereon before they are
submitted to the Board for approval
• Reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements
• Reports actions and minutes of the AC to the Board
• Reviews the cost effectiveness of the audit and the independence and objectivity of the external
auditors
The AC is given full access to the management and receives its full cooperation. The AC has full
discretion to invite any director or management staff to attend its meetings. It is empowered to
investigate any matters relating to the Group’s accounting, auditing, internal controls and/or
financial practices that are brought to its attention; and has full access to records, resources and
personnel to enable it to discharge its functions properly and effectively.
During the financial year, the AC met four times, one of which was with the external auditors
to discuss and review the financial statements and compliance with established internal controls
of the Group. The attendance of the AC members at these meetings is set out as follows:
Name of Director
Mr. Bobby Chin Yoke Choong
Mr. Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Mr. Wong Hung Khim
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Number of meetings attended
4
3
4

The Company has a well-established compliance and internal audit department. The Internal
Auditor reports to the Chairman of the AC. He plans the internal audit schedules which includes
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls in consultation with, but
independent of the management. The internal audit plans are submitted to the AC for approval
at the AC’s meetings.
Formal procedures are in place for the internal and external auditors to report their findings and
recommendations to the management and AC. The internal and external auditors also have
unrestricted access to the AC. In additional, the AC also meets up with the internal and external
auditors separately at least once a year without the presence of the management, in order to have
free and unfiltered access to information that it may require.
There were no non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the financial year
under review.
The management has in place a Whistle-Blower Policy and Procedure (“the Policy”) which
provides guidelines and a procedure for the staff of the Company to report concerns or complaints
regarding matters of suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest practices or other similar breaches
regarding accounting, financial and audit matters, as well as alleged irregularities and violations
of a general, operational and financial nature against the Company or against any applicable law.
All employees may address their report to the Head of Internal Audit or the Chairman of the
Audit Committee. Direct contact details of both the Head of Internal Audit and the Chairman
of the Audit Committee were made available to all staff.

4. INTERNAL CONTROLS
a. Risk Assessment and Management
The Group has identified the following key risk areas:
• Operational risk
• Compliance and legal risk
• Financial risk
• Investment risk
Operational risk
The Group’s operational risk is managed at each operating unit and monitored at the Group
level. In the case of the Group’s hotel properties, the operating risks are intense competition
from other hotels, over supply of rooms, increase in operating costs, dependence on business
travelers and tourists, recurring need for refurbishment of hotel properties, terrorism and their
resulting effect on travel.
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It is recognized that operational risk cannot be eliminated completely and the Group has to
weigh the cost and benefit in managing these risks. The Group maintains sufficient insurance
coverage taking into account the cost of cover and the risk profiles of the business in which
it operates. The internal audit team complements the management’s role by providing an
independent perspective on the controls that help to mitigate any operational risks.
Compliance and legal risk
Besides Singapore, the Group has business operations and properties in Australia and New
Zealand. Compliance risk arises from failure to comply with the laws or regulations and this
failure may result in fines, bad publicity and suspension of operations. The operating business
heads are responsible to ensure compliance with the applicable laws and regulations in their
countries of operations. The Group identifies and manages legal risk through effective use of
its internal and external legal advisers. The internal Legal Department assists in identifying,
monitoring and providing support necessary to manage legal risks across the Group.
Financial risk
The Group’s financial risk management’s objectives and policies are set out in pages 67 to 68
of the Annual Report under note 4 of the Notes to the Financial Statements.
Investment risk
The Board of Directors and the Executive Committee review all major investment proposals
to ensure that the approved investments will most likely meet the Group’s internal rates of
return.
The Board believes that the system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments
and the Group’s assets throughout the year is adequate.

b. Dealings in Company’s Securities
The Group has complied with Rule 1207(18) of the Listing Manual of the SGX with respect
to dealings in securities. The Group has adopted and implemented the SGX Best Practices
Guide so that our directors and staff are expected to observe insider trading laws at all times.

5. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company places great emphasis on regular, effective and fair communication with its
shareholders. The announcements of the Group’s results and material developments are released
through SGXNET to the SGX’s website in a timely manner to ensure fair disclosure of information.
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All shareholders receive the annual report and the notices of the AGM and any extraordinary
general meetings. The notices for such meetings are also advertised in a local newspaper and made
available on SGXNET.
The Company encourages and gives the shareholders the opportunity to voice their opinions and
ask questions about the Group at general meetings. The Company values the shareholders’
contributions and will adopt any beneficial suggestions from them.
The chairpersons of the various board committees and the external auditors are present at the
general meetings to address queries from the shareholders.

6. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPT”)
The Company has established a procedure for recording and reporting interested person transactions.
Details of significant interested person transactions for the financial year ended 31 March 2007
are set out below:

Name of interested person
Subsidiaries of Singapore
Shipping Corporation Limited
• Rental income
• Management fee income

Aggregate value of all IPT during
the financial year ended 31 March
2007 (excluding transactions
below $100,000)

$470,000
$108,000

Aggregate value of all IPT
conducted under
shareholders mandate
pursuant to Rule 920
(excluding transactions below
$100,000)

-

All the above IPT were concluded on normal commercial terms.
There were no other material contracts or loan entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries
involving the interests of the chief executive officer, directors or controlling shareholder, which
are either subsisting at the end of the financial year or, if not then subsisting, entered into since
the end of the previous financial year.
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Property Portfolio
of the Stamford Land Group
Land and buildings comprise:
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Location

Title

Floor area/
No. of rooms

Description

100C Pasir Panjang Road (Singapore)

Freehold

2,740 sq. m

Land

Southpoint Building (Singapore)

99 years lease
from 1985

Part of 1,490 sq. m
occupied by the Group

Part of one floor of office
building occupied by
the Group

Stamford Grand North Ryde,
Sydney (Australia)

Freehold

255 rooms

41/2-Star all suite hotel

Stamford Plaza, Melbourne (Australia)

Freehold

283 rooms

5-Star all suite hotel

Stamford Grand, Adelaide (Australia)

Freehold

220 rooms

41/2-Star hotel

Stamford Plaza, Adelaide (Australia)

Freehold

336 rooms

5-Star hotel

Stamford Plaza, Auckland (New Zealand) Freehold

282 rooms

5-Star hotel

Sir Stamford at Circular Quay,
Sydney (Australia)

99 years lease
from 1990

105 rooms

5-Star hotel

Stamford Plaza Sydney Airport,
Sydney (Australia)

Freehold

313 rooms

41/2-Star hotel

Stamford Plaza, Brisbane (Australia)

65 years lease
from 2000

252 rooms

5-Star hotel
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Investment properties comprise:
Location

Title

Description

Bank of NSW Building, Perth (Australia)

Freehold

2-storey commercial and retail building

Dynon's China Hall Building, Perth (Australia)

Freehold

2-storey commercial and retail building

The West Building, Perth (Australia)

Freehold

2-storey commercial and retail building

Southpoint Building (Singapore)

99 years lease from 1985

Part of one floor of office building

Properties under development comprise:
Location

Title

Stage of development/
estimated date of
completion

899-915 Hay Street,
Perth (Australia)

Freehold

Under development/2009

3,229 sq. m

14-storey
commercial building

100

171-193 Gloucester Street, 99 years lease Under development/2010
Sydney (Australia)
from 2010

1,767 sq. m

Commercial, retail
and 134 residential
apartments

100

Stamford on Albert,
Auckland (New Zealand)

19,696 sq. m*

149 luxury units of
100
residential apartments

Freehold

Under development/2009

Site area

Description

%
Interest

* Net saleable area
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Financial Statements

Financial Statements
Report of the Directors
Statement of Directors
Auditors’ Report
Balance Sheets
Consolidated Income Statement
Statements of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Notes to Financial Statements
Shareholdings Statistics
Notice of Annual General
Meeting and Books Closure
Proxy Form
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44
47
48
50
52
53
55
57
93
95
99

The hotel business accounts for

78.4%

of Group operating profits

with stable of seven Australian luxury hotels - offering the irresistible
combination of superior locations in gateway cities, superb facilities
and splendid services.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The directors present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and
of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2007.

1

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Ow Chio Kiat
Ow Cheo Guan
Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Wong Hung Khim
Bobby Chin Yoke Choong

2

(Executive Chairman)
(Executive Deputy Chairman)

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND
DEBENTURES
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year was the Company
a party to any arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body
corporate.

3

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in
the shares, share options and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded
in the register of directors' shareholdings kept by the Company under section 164 of the Companies
Act, Cap. 50 except as follows:
Interest held in the
name of director at
1 April 2006
31 March 2007
STAMFORD LAND CORPORATION LTD
Ordinary shares
Ow Chio Kiat
153,471,000
Ow Cheo Guan
3,730,000

153,471,000
3,730,000

Deemed interest of
director at
1 April 2006 31 March 2007

183,797,000
26,400,000

183,797,000
26,400,000

By virtue of section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Ow Chio Kiat with the above mentioned
shareholding is deemed to have an interest in the Company and in all its subsidiaries.
The directors’ interests as at 21 April 2007 were the same as those at the end of the year.
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4

DIRECTORS' RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO
CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS
Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive
a benefit which is required to be disclosed under section 201(8) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50,
by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with
a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest
except as disclosed in the financial statements. Certain directors received remuneration from related
corporations in their capacities as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.
There were certain transactions (shown in the financial statements under related party transactions)
with corporations in which certain directors have an interest.

5

OPTIONS TO TAKE UP UNISSUED SHARES
During the financial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation
in the Group was granted.

6

OPTIONS EXERCISED
During the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in
the Group issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

7

UNISSUED SHARES UNDER OPTION
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation
in the Group under option.

8

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The members of the audit committee at the date of this report are as follows:
Bobby Chin Yoke Choong
Harold Foo Chee Hiang
Wong Hung Khim

(Chairman)

The audit committee performs the functions specified by section 201B(5) of the Companies Act,
Cap. 50. It met with the Company's internal auditors and external auditors to discuss their audit
plan covering the scope of their work and the results of their audits, including the internal audit
and external audit reports.
F i n a n c i a l
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The audit committee also performed the following functions:
• Reviewed with the independent external auditors their plan;
• Reviewed with the internal auditors and independent external auditors their evaluation of the
Company's internal accounting controls;
• Reviewed the adequacy of the assistance provided by the Company's officers to the independent
external auditors;
• Reviewed with the internal auditors the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;
• Reviewed the financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their submission
to the directors of the Company for adoption; and
• Reviewed the interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of
SGX).
Other functions performed by the audit committee are described in the report on corporate
governance included in the annual report.
The audit committee has recommended to the board of directors that the independent external
auditors, RSM Chio Lim be nominated for re-appointment as independent auditors at the next
annual general meeting of the Company.

9

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The independent auditors, RSM Chio Lim, have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment.

10 SUBSEQUENT DEVELOPMENTS
There are no significant developments subsequent to the release of the Group's and the Company's
preliminary financial statements, as announced on 25 May 2007, which would materially affect
the Group's and the Company's operating and financial performance as of the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Ow Chio Kiat

Ow Cheo Guan

Singapore
1 June 2007
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS
In the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements are drawn up so as to give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2007, and of the
changes in equity of the Company and of the Group, and of the results and cash flows of the Group
for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe
that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.
The board of directors authorised the issue of these financial statements.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Ow Chio Kiat

Ow Cheo Guan

Singapore
1 June 2007

F i n a n c i a l

S t a t e m e n t s

47

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
STAMFORD LAND CORPORATION LTD
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Stamford Land Corporation Ltd and its
subsidiaries (the Group), set out on pages 50 to 92, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group
and the Company as at 31 March 2007, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and
cash flow statement of the Group, and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (“the Act”) and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Independent Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion,
(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31
March 2007 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity
of the Company for the year ended on that date; and
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the independent auditors have been properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

RSM Chio Lim
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
1 June 2007
Partner in charge of audit: Peter Jacob
Effective from financial year ended 31 March 2004
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BALANCE SHEETS
31 March 2007

THE GROUP
Notes

THE COMPANY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

6

70,371

38,413

4,318

2,473

Current investments

7

11,520

10,396

-

-

Trade and other receivables

8

15,370

13,330

26

38

Amounts due from subsidiaries
13

-

-

1,844

136

Properties held for sale

(non-trade)

9

27,744

3,134

-

-

Inventories at cost

10

Total current assets

2,134

2,037

-

-

127,139

67,310

6,188

2,647

Non-current assets:
Available-for-sale investments

11

328

200

328

200

Investments in subsidiaries

12

-

-

273,694

248,036

13

-

-

1,064

4,383

Property, plant and equipment

14

486,990

469,574

-

-

Investment properties

15

14,270

-

-

-

Properties under development

16

101,262

121,569

-

-

22

21

359

-

Amounts due from subsidiaries
(non-trade)

Deferred tax asset

50

Total non-current assets

602,872

591,364

275,445

252,619

Total assets

730,011

658,674

281,633

255,266
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BALANCE SHEETS
31 March 2007

THE GROUP
Notes

THE COMPANY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings

17

5,765

8,090

-

-

Trade and other payables

18

32,378

31,217

1,834

232

Amounts due to subsidiaries
(non-trade)

20

-

-

31,276

2,152

98

67

-

-

-

41,386

-

-

38,241

80,760

33,110

2,384

19

271,554

190,794

-

-

20

-

-

13,178

14,597

-

-

733

-

Current tax payable
Current portion of long-term
borrowings

19

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term borrowings
Amounts due to subsidiaries
(non-trade)
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

271,554

190,794

13,911

14,597

Total liabilities

309,795

271,554

47,021

16,981

144,556

144,556

144,556

144,556

Equity:
Share capital

21

Other reserves
Retained earnings

36,488

16,015

(16,365)

(21,886)

239,172

226,549

106,421

115,615

Total equity

420,216

387,120

234,612

238,285

Total liabilities and equity

730,011

658,674

281,633

255,266

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 March 2007

THE GROUP
Notes
22

Revenue
Cost of development properties sold
Raw materials and consumables used
Staff costs

23

2006
$’000

297,976

215,844

(71,956)

-

(33,219)

(32,830)

(87,073)

(89,594)

Depreciation expense

14

(13,506)

(14,919)

Other expenses

24

(49,995)

(50,135)

Financial income

25

4,686

4,332

Financial expense

26

(16,866)

(16,924)

Other credits/(charges)

27

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

28

3,341

5,122

33,388

20,896

(33)

(65)

33,355

20,831

- Basic

3.86 cents

2.41 cents

- Diluted

3.86 cents

2.41 cents

3.0 cents

3.0 cents

Profit attributable to shareholders
Earnings per share

29

Gross dividend per ordinary share

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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30

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 March 2007

THE GROUP
Balance at 31 March 2005
Changes in accounting policy FRS 39
Restated balance
Changes in equity
Available-for-sale investments:
Valuation gains taken to equity
Realisation on disposal of
available-for-sale investments
Foreign currency translation differences
Net income and expense recognised
directly in equity
Profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Dividends
Issue of share capital (Note 21)
Transfer to share capital account
Balance at 31 March 2006
Changes in equity
Available-for-sale investments:
Valuation gains taken to equity
Foreign currency translation differences
Net income and expense recognised
directly in equity
Profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Dividends (Note 30)
Balance at 31 March 2007

Share
capital
$’000

Foreign
Capital Fair value currency
Share redemption adjustment translation Retained
reserve
premium reserve
earnings
reserve
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

86,283
86,283

57,148
57,148

945
945

294
294

50,660
50,660

216,072 411,108
294
216,072 411,402

-

-

-

96

-

-

96

-

-

-

(245)
-

(34,790)

-

(245)
(34,790)

-

-

-

(149)
-

(34,790)
-

20,831

(34,939)
20,831

180
58,093
144,556

(57,148)
-

(945)
-

(149)
145

(34,790)
15,870

-

-

-

128
-

20,345

-

128
20,345

-

-

-

128
-

20,345
-

33,355

20,473
33,355

144,556

-

-

128
273

20,345
36,215

20,831 (14,108)
(10,354) (10,354)
180
226,549 387,120

33,355
53,828
(20,732) (20,732)
239,172 420,216

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 March 2007

Share
capital

THE COMPANY

Foreign
currency
Capital
Fair value
Share redemption adjustment Revaluation translation
premium reserve
reserve
reserve
reserve

Total
equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Balance at 31 March 2005
86,283
Changes in accounting
policy FRS 39
Restated balance
86,283
Changes in equity
Available-for-sale investments:
Valuation gains taken to equity
Realisation on disposal of
available-for-sale investments
Foreign currency translation
differences
Net income and expense
recognised directly in equity
Loss for the year
Interest expense transferred to
fair value adjustment reserve
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Dividends
Issue of share capital (Note 21)
180
Transfer share capital account
58,093
Balance at 31 March 2006
144,556
Changes in accounting policy
FRS 39 (Note 36)
Restated balance
144,556
Changes in equity
Available-for-sale investments:
Valuation gains taken to equity
Fair value adjustment arising from
FRS 39
Foreign currency translation
differences
Net income and expense
recognised directly in equity
Profit for the year
Interest expense transferred to
fair value adjustment reserve
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Dividends (Note 30)
Balance at 31 March 2007
144,556

57,148

945

-

380

(13,066)

126,739

258,429

57,148

945

5,891
5,891

380

(13,066)

126,739

5,891
264,320

-

-

96

-

-

-

96

-

-

(245)

-

-

-

(245)

-

-

-

-

(13,789)

-

(13,789)

-

-

(149)
-

-

(13,789)
-

-

-

(1,153)

-

-

(57,148)
-

(945)
-

(1,302)
4,589

380

(13,789)
(26,855)

(770) (15,861)
(10,354) (10,354)
180
115,615 238,285

-

-

294
4,883

380

(26,855)

115,615

294
238,579

-

-

128

-

-

-

128

-

-

(803)

-

-

-

-

6,249

-

6,249

-

-

(675)
-

-

6,249
-

11,191

5,574
11,191

-

-

(347)

-

-

347

-

-

-

(1,022)
3,861

380

6,249
(20,606)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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- (13,938)
(1,923) (1,923)
1,153

-

(803)

11,538
16,765
(20,732) (20,732)
106,421 234,612

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 March 2007

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense
Depreciation expense
Dividend income
Foreign exchange translation gains
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments
Loss on disposal of unquoted investments
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments
Interest expense
Interest income
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating profit before working capital changes
Current investments
Properties held for sale
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Net cash from operating activities

33,355

20,831

33
13,506
(217)
(788)
16,837
(3,265)
(36)
59,425
(1,124)
76,216
(98)
(2,027)
1,682
134,074
(2)
134,072

65
14,919
(231)
(170)
(264)
114
167
16,643
(2,941)
1
49,134
9,292
1,436
211
809
890
61,772
(42)
61,730

Cash flows from investing activities:
Disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from available-for-sale investments
Proceeds from unquoted investments
Additions to properties under development
Interest received
Dividends received
Net cash used in investing activities

68
(16,987)
(76,065)
3,252
217
(89,515)

5
(5,791)
539
101
(52,808)
2,951
231
(54,772)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuing shares
Increase in borrowings
Interest paid
Dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activities

24,284
(17,358)
(20,732)
(13,806)

180
11,992
(18,514)
(10,354)
(16,696)

2,587

(2,669)

33,338
30,323
945
64,606

(12,407)
43,741
(1,011)
30,323

Effect of exchange rate changes in consolidating subsidiaries
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate adjustment
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note A)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 March 2007

Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement:
A. Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Bank and cash
Bank overdrafts (Note 17)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2007
$’000
70,371
(5,765)
64,606

2006
$’000
38,413
(8,090)
30,323

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

1

GENERAL
The Company is incorporated in Singapore with limited liability. The financial statements are
presented in Singapore dollars. They are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) and they cover
the parent and the Group entities. The Company’s financial statements have been prepared on the
same basis, and as permitted by the Companies Act, Cap. 50, no income statement is presented
for the Company. The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board
of directors on 1 June 2007.
The principal activities of the Group consist of investment holding, hotel owning and management,
travel agency, trading and property investment and development.
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. Its registered
office and principal place of business is at 200 Cantonment Road, #09-01 Southpoint, Singapore
089763. The Company is domiciled in Singapore.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a)

Accounting Convention
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention,
except where an FRS requires an alternative treatment (such as fair values) as disclosed
where appropriate in these financial statements.

(b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidation accounting method is used for the consolidated financial statements that
include the financial statements made up to the balance sheet date each year of the Company
and its subsidiaries. Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of the
Group presented as those of a single economic entity. The consolidated financial statements
are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in
similar circumstances. All significant intragroup balances and transactions, including income,
expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full on consolidation. The equity accounting
method is used for associates in the Group financial statements.The proportionate consolidation
accounting method is used for the joint ventures whereby the Group’s share of each of the
assets, liabilities, income and expense is combined on a line-by-line basis with similar items
in the financial statements. The results of the investees acquired or disposed of during the
financial year are accounted for from the respective dates of acquisition or up to the dates
of disposal. On disposal the attributable amount of goodwill if any is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(c)

Basis of preparation
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires the directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Apart from those involving
estimations, management has made judgements in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. The areas requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex
judgements, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements,
are disclosed in Note 3, where applicable.

(d)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank and cash balances and any highly liquid debt
instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less. Cash for the cash
flow statement includes cash and cash equivalents less bank overdrafts payable on demand
that form an integral part of cash management and cash subject to restriction. Other financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are presented within the
section on operating activities as part of changes in working capital in the cash flow statement.

(e)

Current investments
The investments held as trading financial assets included under current assets are stated at
fair value using the portfolio basis. A gain or loss on re-measuring trading financial assets
to fair value is recognised in the income statement. The transactions are recorded using the
trade date method.

(f)

Trade receivables
After initial recognition at fair value, trade receivables are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method but short-duration receivables with no stated interest rate are
normally measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest would
be significant. Trade receivables are stated after provision for impairment. A trade receivable
amount is regarded as impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
The carrying amounts of trade receivables are stated at their fair values. The amount of the
provision is recognised in the income statement. Normally no interest is charged on trade
receivables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

(g)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell
immediately or in the near term and are classified as held for trading, and those that the
entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those
that the entity upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or (c) those for which
the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of
credit deterioration and are classified as available-for-sale. After initial recognition such
financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, are measured at their fair values, without
any deduction for transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other disposal, except
for the non-current financial assets that are loans and receivables which are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment.These items
are included in the balance sheet in loans and receivables as current assets or as non-current
assets where the maturities are greater than twelve months after the balance sheet date.

(h)

Properties held for sale
Properties held for sale are those which are intended for sale in the ordinary course of
business. They are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Cost includes
cost of land and other direct and related development expenditure, including interest on
borrowings, incurred in developing the properties.

(i)

Inventories
Inventories represent consumables valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value,
calculated on the basis of weighted average cost. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. A write down on cost is made for where
the cost is not recoverable or if the selling prices have declined.

(j)

Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are initially measured at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs and are classified as non-current assets unless management intends to dispose
of the investment within twelve months of the balance sheet date. At subsequent reporting
dates they are stated at fair value by reference to the transaction price or other market prices.
If such market prices are not reliably determinable, the management establishes fair value
by using valuation techniques. A gain or loss on remeasuring available-for-sale financial
assets or liabilities to fair value is recognised directly in equity until the financial asset is sold,
collected, or otherwise disposed of, or when determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in net profit or loss for
the year. Impairment losses recognised in income statement for equity investments classified
as available-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through income statement but debt
instruments classified as available-for-sale impairment losses recognised in income statement
are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the instrument can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the Fimpairment
i n a n c iloss.
a lThe
S transactions
t a t e m e
are recorded at the trade date method.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(k)

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity including unincorporated and special purpose entities that are
controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. In the Company’s own separate financial statements, the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision for impairment in value. Impairment losses
recognised in income statement for a subsidiary is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised. The net book values of the subsidiaries are not necessarily indicative
of the amounts that would be realised in a current market exchange.

(l)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment loss.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the item and is recognised in the income statement.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost and valuation of assets less their residual
values, other than freehold land and construction-in-progress, over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, as follows:
Freehold buildings
Leasehold land and buildings
Renovations, furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Equipment and computers

-

100 years
terms of the leases ranging from 15 to 89 years
2 to 25 years
5 to 7 years
2 to 15 years

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and construction-in-progress.
The useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment is reviewed periodically and, if
expectations are significantly different from previous estimates, the depreciation charge for
the current and future periods are adjusted. Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained
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in the financial statements.
(m) Properties under development
Properties under development are stated at cost. Development and related expenditure,
including interest costs, are capitalised up to physical completion.
Revenue and expenses in respect of properties under development are recognised in
accordance with the completion of construction method, in respect of units for which precompletion sales contracts have been settled. When it is probable that total contract costs
will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
(n)

Investment properties
Investment property is property owned or held under a finance lease to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or both, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes or sale in the ordinary course of business. After initial
recognition at cost including transaction costs the cost model is used to measure the
investment property using the treatment for property, plant and equipment, that is, at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. An investment
property that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale is carried at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. For disclosure purposes, the fair values are
determined periodically on a systematic basis by management.

(o)

Income tax
Tax expense is determined on the basis of tax effect accounting, using the liability method,
and it is applied to all significant temporary differences arising between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity. Deferred tax assets are recognised if there is a reasonable expectation of its realisation.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same tax authority.

(p)

Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately,
unless the relevant asset is land or buildings at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to the
F iextent
n a n of
c the
i a credit
l
S t balance
a t e mine

n t s

61

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

the revaluation reserve.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(p)

Impairment of assets (Cont'd)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
All financial assets except those measured at fair value through profit or loss are subject to
review for impairment. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Losses expected as a result
of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.

(q)

Liabilities and provisions
A liability or provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. These include trade and other payables and where
the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount recognised is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

(r)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings when recognised initially are
measured at fair value plus, in the case of items not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial
liability. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost and any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method
except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Such liabilities, including
derivatives that are liabilities, are measured at fair value. Liabilities are classified as current
liabilities unless there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the balance sheet date.
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(s)

Financial guarantee
A financial guarantee contract requires that the issuer makes specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss when a specified debtor fails to make payment when due. Financial
guarantee contracts are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at
the greater of (a) the amount determined in accordance with FRS 37 and (b) the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
with FRS 18.

(t)

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds. Where the
Company reacquires its own equity instruments as treasury shares, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs is deducted from equity attributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of.
Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is
included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders and no gain or loss is
recognised in the income statement.

(u)

Foreign currency transactions
The functional currency of the Company is the Singapore dollar as it reflects the economic
substance of the underlying events and circumstances of the entity. Transactions in foreign
currencies are recorded in Singapore dollars at the rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
At each balance sheet date, recorded monetary balances and balances measured at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are reported at the rates ruling at the balance
sheet date and exchange differences are dealt with in the income statement, except where
monetary items in substance form part of the Company’s net investment in its foreign
subsidiaries, exchange differences arising on such monetary items are taken to the exchange
reserve account until the disposal of the investments.

(v)

Translation of foreign currency financial statements
The foreign entities determine their appropriate functional currency as it reflects the primary
economic environment in which the entities operate. For inclusion in the consolidated
financial statements, assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries are translated at the rates
of exchange approximating those ruling at the balance sheet date. The income statements
are translated at the average rates of exchange for the year, and the operating net investment
in the foreign entities are translated at the historical rates.
The resulting currency translation differences are taken to the currency translation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign entity, the accumulated currency translation differences are recognised
in the income statement as part of the profit or loss on disposal.
F i n a n c i a l
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(w) Revenue
Revenue represents invoiced value of goods sold and services rendered, hotel and restaurant
operations, rental income and income from investments. The Group's revenue excludes
transactions within the Group. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, taking into account the amount of any trade discounts and volume
rebates allowed by the Group.
(x)

Basis of revenue recognition
Income from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership
are transferred to the buyer and the amount of revenue and the costs of the transaction
(including future costs) can be measured reliably.
Income from the sale of completed apartment units is recognised upon the settlement of
contracts.
Income from the rendering of services, income from the hotel and restaurant operations
is recognised when the services are rendered.
Rental income is recognised on the time-proportion basis in accordance with the terms
of the rental agreement.
Dividend income from subsidiaries and other investments is recognised in the accounting
period in which the dividend is declared payable.
Interest income on interest bearing instruments is recognised on the time-proportion basis.

(y)

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (including state-managed retirement
benefit schemes) are charged as an expense when incurred.

(z)

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred,
except for borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the construction of a qualifying
asset, which are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are completed.
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(aa) Financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash
equivalents, investments, trade and other receivables and payables, long-term receivables,
loans and borrowings. The accounting policies on recognition and measurement of these
items are disclosed in the respective accounting policies found in this Note.
(ab) Segment reporting
A business segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in
providing an individual product or service or a group of related products or services and
that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.
A geographical segment is a distinguishable component that is engaged in providing products
or services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments.

3

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS, ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES
The critical judgements made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and the key
assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
(a)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and equipment have any indication
of impairment in accordance with the accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of judgements and estimates. These estimates, judgements
and assumptions are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The carrying amount of the class of assets affected by the assumption is
$434,603,000.

F i n a n c i a l

S t a t e m e n t s

65

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

3

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS, ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (Cont’d)
(b)

Critical assumptions and estimation uncertainties
As at the balance sheet date, the Company has inter-company loan payables and receivables
of $48,527,000 (2006: $21,653,000) and $3,253,000 (2006: $4,936,000) respectively, which
includes those not expected to be fully settled within the next twelve months amounting
to $13,178,000 (2006: $14,597,000) and $1,064,000 (2006: $4,383,000) respectively. For
the purpose of accounting, the inter-company loan payables and receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and measured at amortised cost thereafter. As at the date of the draw
down of the inter-company loan payables and receivables, the directors have determined
that the fair value of the inter-company loan payables and receivables to be $44,454,000
(2006: $16,749,000) and $2,908,000 (2006: $4,519,000) respectively. The fair value was
determined based on interest rates of 5% to 6% per year, which are approximately the cost
of borrowing of the Company as at that date. The expected repayment date of the loan
payables and receivables are in 2016. The difference between the fair value and the principal
amount are $4,073,000 (2006: $4,904,000) and $345,000 (2006: $417,000) for inter-company
loan payables and receivables respectively are recognised directly in the statement of changes
in equity of the Company.

(c)

Impairment in investment in subsidiary
When a subsidiary is in net equity deficit and has suffered operating losses, a test is made
whether the investment in the investee has suffered any impairment, in accordance with
the stated accounting policy. This determination requires significant judgement. An estimate
is made of the future profitability of the investee, and the financial health of and near-term
business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance,
and operational and financing cash flow. It is impracticable to disclose the extent of the
possible effects. It is reasonably possible based on existing knowledge, that outcomes within
the next financial year that are different from assumptions could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amount of the asset affected. The carrying amount of the specific class of
assets affected by the assumption is $273,694,000.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The following are the Group's financial risk
management objectives and policies:
(a)

Foreign currency risk
The Group has exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates arising from foreign currency
transactions and balances and changes in fair values. These exposures and changes in fair
values from time to time are monitored and any gains and losses are included in the income
statement unless otherwise stated in the notes to the financial statements.
The Group has significant exposures arising from exchange rate movements in United States
dollar, Australian dollar and New Zealand dollar. Foreign exchange exposure is largely a
balance sheet item, and where applicable, the fluctuations will be reflected in the foreign
currency translation reserve of the Group. Thus, hedging of foreign exchange fluctuations
on the Group’s income statement is achieved as far as practicable through the matching of
liabilities against assets in the same currency.

(b)

Interest rate risk
The Group obtains additional financing through bank borrowings. There is exposure to
interest rate price risk for financial instruments with a fixed interest rate and to interest rate
or cash flow risk for financial instruments with a floating interest rate that is reset as market
rates change. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available and
at the same time managing its foreign currency exposure.
Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks.
Information relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is disclosed in Notes 6, 17 and
19 to the financial statements.

(c)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s funding is primarily handled by corporate office on the basis of the subsidiaries’
investing and operational liquidity requirements.The subsidiaries’ excess liquidity is equalised
internally through inter-company accounts.
The Group’s liquidity reserves consist of bank deposits as well as committed and uncommitted
credit facilities with major financial institutions. To a lesser extent, liquidity reserves are in
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some periods placed in money market instruments or bonds.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(d)

Credit risk
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. No
other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on
an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, as the exposure is spread over a
large number of counterparties and customers.

(e)

Fair values
The financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date comprise mainly
monetary assets and liabilities and the directors are of the opinion that their carrying values
approximate the fair values. Those financial assets and liabilities that have a fixed maturity
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Those that do not
have a fixed maturity are measured at cost. All financial assets are subject to review for
impairment.

5

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A related party is an entity or person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries
controls, is controlled by, or is under common or joint control with, the entity in governing the
financial and operating policies, or that has an interest in the entity that gives it significant influence
over the entity in financial and operating decisions. It also includes members of the key management
personnel or close members of the family of any individual referred to herein and others who
have the ability to control, jointly control or significantly influence by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any such individual. This includes
parents, subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and post employment benefits plans, if any.
(a)

68

A n n u a l

Related companies:

R e p o r t

2 0 0 6 / 0 7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

Intragroup transactions and balances that have been eliminated in the consolidated financial
statements are not disclosed as related party transactions and balances below.
(b)

Other related parties:
There are transactions and arrangements between the Company and related parties and the
effect of these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial
statements. The current related party balances are unsecured, without fixed repayment terms
and interest unless stated otherwise. For non-current balances, an interest is imputed based
on the cost of borrowing less the interest rate if any provided in the agreement for the
balance.
Significant related party transactions:
THEtoGROUP
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the notes
the financial
2007
2006
statements, this item includes the following: $’000
$’000
Revenue, rental income and service fees from related parties
2,151
2,254

THE GROUP
(c)

Key management compensation:
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits

2007
$’000
3,395

2006
$’000
2,637

The above amounts are included under employee benefits expense. Included in the above
amounts are the following items:
THE GROUP

Remuneration of directors of the Company
Fees to directors of the Company

2007
$’000
1,941
208

2006
$’000
1,292
200

Key management personnel are executive directors and those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or
indirectly. The above amounts for key management compensation are all the executive
directors and other key management personnel.
Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the report
on corporate governance.
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6

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

19,826

5,147

311

423

Not restricted in use:
Cash and bank balances
Fixed deposits

Interest earning balances

50,545

33,266

4,007

2,050

70,371

38,413

4,318

2,473

69,207

36,995

4,007

2,050

26,361

11,942

48

47

1,871

1,267

-

-

Amount denominated in foreign currencies include:
Australian dollars
New Zealand dollars

The effective interest rates on the interest earning balances range between 0.5% and 7.18% (2006:
0.5% and 6.45%) per annum.

7

CURRENT INVESTMENTS
THE GROUP

Investments held for trading:
Fair value:
Listed equity shares in corporations
Equity linked notes
Dual currency deposits
Bonds
Fair value at end of year
Amount denominated in foreign currency include:
New Zealand dollars

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

3,393
4,024
2,353
1,750
11,520

2,809
3,837
3,750
10,396

2,353

-

The investments represent short-term investments which provide an opportunity for return
through dividend income, interest income and trading gains. All the investments are stated at fair
values. The fair values are based on quoted market prices.
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8

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

12,050

9,456

-

-

Trade receivables
Outside parties
Less: Provision for impairment

(53)

(50)

-

-

11,997

9,406

-

-

347

222

-

-

Deposits

24

153

-

-

Accrued interest receivable

33

20

-

-

Other receivables and prepayments
Related parties (Note 5)

Other receivables

1,406

2,261

26

38

Prepayments

1,563

1,268

-

-

15,370

13,330

26

38

Amount denominated in foreign currencies include:
Australian dollars

9,968

9,255

-

-

New Zealand dollars

1,707

1,351

-

-

Current receivables with a short duration are not discounted and the carrying values are assumed
to approximate to fair values.
THE GROUP

Movements in above provision:
Balance at beginning of year
Charged/(reversed) to income statement
included in financial income/expense
Currency realignment
Bad debts written off
Balance at end of year

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

50

196

29
2
(28)
53

(22)
(11)
(113)
50
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9

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
THE GROUP

Unsold properties at beginning of year
Additions
Currency alignment
Transfer from properties under development (Note 16)
Transfer to profit and loss
Unsold properties at end of year

2007
$’000
3,134
369
171
100,827
(76,757)
27,744

2006
$’000
4,570
1,156
(412)
(2,180)
3,134

Properties held for sale at 31 March 2007 comprise 83 (2006: nil) apartments in Sydney, Australia
which were completed and 61 units were sold during the financial year. The sales proceeds and
cost of sales were $85,162,000 and $71,956,000 respectively.
During the financial year, the Group sold the balance of its six apartments in Adelaide, Australia.
The sales proceeds and cost of sales were $5,798,000 (2006: $7,308,000) and $3,002,000 (2006:
$2,180,000) respectively.

10 INVENTORIES

2007
$’000
598
1,536
2,134

Finished goods
Consumables
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11 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Club memberships

-

718

-

503

Less: Disposal

-

(215)

-

-

Less: Provision for impairment loss

-

(503)

-

(503)

At cost:

Quoted equity shares
Increase in fair value through equity

Market value of quoted equity shares

-

-

-

-

200

55

200

55

128

145

128

145

328

200

328

200

328

200

328

200

503

336

503

336

Movement in impairment loss:
Balance at beginning of year
Charge to income statement included in
financial expense
Provision written off
Balance at end of year

-

167

-

167

(503)

-

(503)

-

-

503

-

503

12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
THE COMPANY

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 13)
Recognition of financial guarantee contracts (Note 36)
Reclassified from amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 13)

2007
$’000
104,579
143,457
1,899
23,759
273,694

2006
$’000
104,579
143,457
248,036

Amounts reclassified from amounts due from subsidiaries are extended as quasi-equity loans to
subsidiaries and have no fixed terms of repayment.
Investments in subsidiaries include investments of $100,790,000 (2006: $100,790,000) which are
denominated in Australian dollars.
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12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Name of subsidiary

Principal activities

Hotel owning and management
Atrington Trust
Dickensian Holdings Ltd
Goldenlines Investments Ltd (2)
The Grand Hotel (S.A.) Pty Limited (1)
Grand Hotel Unit Trust (1)
HSH (Australia) Trust
HSH Contractors Pte Ltd
K.R.M.F.C. Pty Ltd +
Loftus Trust
Logan Trust (1)
Minteyville Lt Collins Street Pty Ltd (1)
MLCS Trust
North Ryde Investments Limited
Ovenard Trust
RGA Trust
Sir Stamford at Circular Quay Pty Ltd (1)
Sir Stamford Hotels & Resorts Pte Ltd
SNR Trust (1)
Stamford Cairns Trust+
Stamford Gold Coast Trust
Stamford Heritage Pty Ltd (1)
Stamford Hotels & Resorts Pte Ltd
Stamford Hotels (NZ) Limited (2)
Stamford Hotels Pty Limited (1)
Stamford Hotels and Resorts
Pty Limited (1)
Stamford Mayfair Limited+
Stamford Plaza Sydney
Management Pty Limited (1)
Stamford Raffles Pty Ltd+
Stamford Sydney Airport Pty Ltd (1)
Terrace Hotel (Operations) Pty Ltd (1)
TIA Trust
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Group's
Country of
effective interest
incorporation and
2007 2006
operation
%
%

Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding
Trustee
Hotel owning
Investment holding
Financier
Dormant
Dormant
Investment holding
Hotel owning
& operations
Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding
Hotel operator
Hotel operations
Investment holding
Dormant
Investment holding
Hotel operator
Hotel operations
Hotel operator
Hotel operator
Hotel management

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Australia
Australia
British Virgin Islands
Singapore
Australia
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Australia

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Australia
Singapore
British Virgin Islands
Australia
British Virgin Islands
Australia
Singapore
New Zealand
Australia
Australia

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Dormant
Hotel operator

British Virgin Islands
Australia

100
100

100
100

Dormant
Hotel operator
Hotel operator
Investment holding

Australia
Australia
Australia
British Virgin Islands

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
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12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Name of subsidiary

Principal activities

Property Development & Investment
Fontelle Trust (1)
Investment holding
Knoxville Trust
Investment holding
& property developer
Investment holding
SHR Kent Street Trust (1)
& property developer
Stamford Property Services Pty Ltd (1)
Property
management
Stamford Raffles Trust (1)
Investment holding
& property developer
HSH Properties Pte Ltd
Property investment
Plantique Investment Pte Ltd
Property investment
Trading
Singapore Wallcoverings Centre
(Private) Limited

Sterling Credit Pte Ltd
Varimerx S.E. Asia Pte Ltd

Voyager Travel Pte Ltd
Others
HSH Tanker Inc.
SLC Property Services Pte Ltd
Stamford Land Management Pte Ltd
Stamford Land (International) Pte Ltd

Group's
Country of
effective interest
incorporation and
2007 2006
operation
%
%
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands

100
100

100
100

British Virgin Islands

100

100

Australia

100

100

British Virgin Islands

100

100

Singapore
Singapore

100
100

100
100

General importers, Singapore
exporters and dealers
in wallcoverings and
interior decorations
Hire purchase
Singapore
financing
General importers, Singapore
exporters and dealers
in furnishing products
Travel agency
Singapore

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

Panama
Singapore
Singapore

100
100
100

100
100
100

Singapore

100

100

Dormant
Dormant
Management and
consultancy services
Dormant

All subsidiaries are audited by RSM Chio Lim, Singapore, a member of RSM International except as
indicated.
(1)
(2)
+

Audited by Deloitte, New South Wales
Audited by Ernst & Young, New Zealand
No audit required for these dormant companies but their unaudited financial statements are reviewed as part of the
Group audit.
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13 AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES
THE COMPANY

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Less: Provision for impairment on other receivable from a
subsidiary
Less: Reclassified from amounts due to
subsidiaries (Note 20)
Less: Reclassified to investments in subsidiaries (Note 12)

At fair value:
Advances receivable from subsidiaries (Note 3(b))
Balance at beginning of year
Changes in accounting policy - FRS 39
Net amounts received during the year
Less: Reclassified from amounts due to
subsidiaries (Note 20)
Less: Reclassified to investments in subsidiaries (Note 12)
Interest income recognised in income statement
Balance at end of year
Current portion
Non-current portion
Total receivables

2007
$’000
34,102

2006
$’000
293,290

-

(9,400)

(7,435)
(23,759)
2,908

(135,914)
(143,457)
4,519

4,519
29,511

310,363
(487)
(26,056)

(7,435)
(23,759)
72
2,908

(135,914)
(143,457)
70
4,519

1,844
1,064
2,908

136
4,383
4,519

Net amounts receivable of $23,759,000 (2006: $143,457,000) are extended as quasi-equity loans
to subsidiaries and have no fixed terms of repayment. The directors of the Company consider
these receivables as quasi-equity in nature as these receivables are not expected to be received
until such time the subsidiaries have the financial resources in excess of their working capital
requirements, and are in a position to return the capital. As such, these receivables are stated at
cost (on the same basis as cost of investments in subsidiaries).
The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are presented on a net basis when there is a right to settle
on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

76

A n n u a l

R e p o r t

2 0 0 6 / 0 7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold Renovations,
land and
furniture
buildings and fittings

Motor
vehicles

Equipment Constructionand
incomputers
progress

Freehold
land

Freehold
buildings

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Cost:
At beginning of year 1 April 2005
Currency realignment
Additions
Disposals
At end of year 31 March 2006

82,576
(6,162)
76,414

323,770
(33,603)
300
290,467

142,506
(11,568)
255
131,193

46,254
(4,821)
1,887
(2,234)
41,086

911
(81)
830

60,028
(5,598)
3,208
(298)
57,340

555
(50)
141
646

656,600
(61,883)
5,791
(2,532)
597,976

Accumulated depreciation:
At beginning of year 1 April 2005
Currency realignment
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
At end of year 31 March 2006

-

37,721
(4,369)
3,571
36,923

10,920
(909)
1,870
11,881

28,793
(3,351)
3,640
(2,234)
26,848

595
(62)
126
659

41,601
(4,330)
5,712
(292)
42,691

-

119,630
(13,021)
14,919
(2,526)
119,002

Provision for impairment loss
At beginning of year 1 April 2005
and end of year 31 March 2006

9,400

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,400

67,014

253,544

119,312

14,238

171

14,649

646

469,574

76,414
3,225
-

290,467
17,929
10,904

131,193
6,391
210

41,086
2,540
1,813

830
45
54

57,340
3,220
4,687

646
35
(681)

597,976
33,385
16,987

-

-

(8,423)

-

-

-

-

(8,423)

79,639

(6,376)
312,924

129,371

(193)
45,246

929

(297)
64,950

-

(6,376)
(490)
633,059

-

36,923
2,462

11,881
557

26,848
1,570

659
36

42,691
2,723

-

119,002
7,348

-

-

(1,445)

-

-

-

-

(1,445)

-

(1,281)
3,563
41,667

1,815
12,808

3,197
(147)
31,468

74
769

4,857
(314)
49,957

-

(1,281)
13,506
(461)
136,669

Provision for impairment loss
At beginning of year 1 April 2006
and end of year 31 March 2007

9,400

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,400

Net book value:
At end of year 31 March 2007

70,239

13,778

160

14,993

-

486,990

THE GROUP

Net book value:
At end of year 31 March 2006
Cost:
At beginning of year 1 April 2006
Currency realignment
Additions
Transfer to investment properties
(Note 15)
Transfer to properties under
development (Note 16)
Disposals
At end of year 31 March 2007
Accumulated depreciation:
At beginning of year 1 April 2006
Currency realignment
Transfer to investment properties
(Note 15)
Transfer to properties under
development (Note 16)
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
At end of year 31 March 2007

271,257

116,563

$’000

$’000

Total

$’000

An independent valuation was performed in 2002 on a freehold property at 100C Pasir Panjang Road by DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung (SEA) Pte Ltd, on an open market basis with existing use, which valued the freehold property at $18,500,000.
Accordingly, an impairment loss of $9,400,000 was recognised in 2002.
Other than 100C Pasir Panjang Road, Singapore, the freehold and leasehold land and buildings with carrying value totalling
approximately $439,554,000 (2006: $421,365,000) are charged by way of mortgages and fixed and floating equitable charges
for short-term and long-term borrowings (Notes 17 and 19).
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
THE GROUP
Freehold
land
$’000
At Cost:
At beginning of year 1 April 2006
Currency realignment
Additions
Disposals
Reclassification from property, plant and
equipment arising from early adoption
of FRS 40 (Note 36)
At end of year 31 March 2007

Freehold
buildings
$’000

Leasehold
buildings
$’000

Total
$’000

679
-

6,613
-

-

7,292
-

679

6,613

8,423
8,423

8,423
15,715

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,445)
(1,445)

(1,445)
(1,445)

Net book value:
At end of year 31 March 2007

679

6,613

6,978

14,270

Fair value:
Fair value at end of year 31 March 2007

679

6,613

11,347

18,639

Accumulated depreciation:
At beginning of year 1 April 2006
Currency realignment
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Reclassification from property, plant and
equipment arising from early adoption
of FRS 40 (Note 36)
At end of year 31 March 2007

All the investment properties are leased out under operating leases.
The fair value of each investment property is stated on the existing use basis to reflect the actual
market state and circumstances as of the balance sheet date and not as of either a past or future
date. The fair value was based on a valuation made by management. A gain or loss arising from a
change in the fair value is not recognised in the income statement or revaluation reserves but an
impairment loss is expensed.
Investment property at a carrying value of $6,978,000 (2006: $Nil) is mortgaged as security for
the bank facilities (see Note 17).
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16 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

THE GROUP
Cost:
At beginning of year
1 April 2005
Currency realignment
Additions
At end of year 31 March 2006

THE GROUP
Cost:
At beginning of year
1 April 2006
Currency realignment
Additions

Land
$’000

Development
expenditure
$’000

Interest
expense
$’000

Overhead
expenditure
$’000

43,275
(3,908)
11,873
51,240

24,347
(2,198)
39,775
61,924

1,634
(148)
449
1,935

6,331
(572)
711
6,470

75,587
(6,826)
52,808
121,569

Development
expenditure
$’000

Interest
expense
$’000

Overhead
expenditure
$’000

Total
$’000

61,924
3,388
68,484
133,796

1,935
106
3,481
5,522

6,470
354
4,100
10,924

121,569
6,652
76,065
204,286

(69,204)

(2,432)

(8,002)

(100,827)

(6,210)

(278)

(125)

(7,292)

5,095
63,477

2,812

2,797

5,095
101,262

Land
$’000

51,240
2,804
54,044

Less: Transfer to properties
held for sale (Note 9)
(21,189)
Less: Transfer to investment
properties (Note 15)
(679)
Add: Transfer from property,
plant and equipment
(Note 14)
At end of year 31 March 2007 32,176

Total
$’000

Borrowing costs capitalised as part of properties under development amounted to $5,522,000
(2006: $1,935,000). The rate of interest per year used during the year was 8.55% (2006: 6.46%).
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17 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
The short-term borrowings relate to bank overdrafts which are secured by legal mortgages on
certain properties of the subsidiaries.
The interest rate for the bank overdrafts ranges between 5.86% to 6.44% (2006: 3.89% to 5.66%)
per annum.

18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

4,585

10,913

-

-

Trade payables
Outside parties
Other payables
Related parties (Note 5)
Accrued loan interest payable
Accrued liabilities
Other payables

126

118

7

-

1,126

1,647

-

-

17,634

10,726

200

214

8,907

7,813

1,627

18

32,378

31,217

1,834

232

7,360

12,877

-

-

496

489

-

-

Amount denominated in foreign currencies include:
Australian dollars
New Zealand dollars
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19 LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
THE GROUP

Bank loans
Less: Current portion
Non-current portion
Non-current portion is payable as follows:
Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years

2007
$’000
271,554
271,554

2006
$’000
232,180
(41,386)
190,794

118,126
153,428
271,554

190,794
190,794

The term loans as at 31 March 2007 comprise:
(a) $118,126,000 (A$96,500,000) [2006: $111,998,000 (A$96,500,000)] and $70,321,000
(NZ$65,000,000) [2006: $29,780,000 (NZ$30,000,000)] term loans secured by legal mortgages
on certain properties of subsidiaries. The A$ loan was refinanced in financial year 2006 and
is repayable in financial year 2009. During the financial year, the Group refinanced the
NZ$30,000,000 loan and drew down an additional NZ$35,000,000 loan to finance the
development of Stamford on Albert residences in Auckland. This term loan is repayable in
financial year 2011. Interest is pegged to market rates ranging from 5.95% to 8.70% (2006:
5.84% to 8.45%) per annum.
(b) $83,107,000 (A$67,892,000) [2006: $78,796,000 (A$67,892,000)] term loan is secured by
legal mortgages on certain properties. The loan was refinanced in financial year 2006 and is
repayable in financial year 2011. Interest is pegged to market rates ranging from 6.51% to
7.28% (2006: 6.51% to 7.1%) per annum.
(c) During the financial year, the Group repaid a loan drawn down in financial year 2006
amounting to $11,606,000 (A$10,000,000). This term loan was secured by legal mortgage
on certain properties of which the sales of the apartment units had commenced in financial
year 2007. The proceeds from the sales of the secured properties have been applied towards
settlement of the loan as agreed with the bank. Interest is pegged to market rates at 6.46%
to 7.40% (2006: 6.46%) per annum.
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20 AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES
THE COMPANY

Amounts due to subsidiaries

2007
$’000
44,454

2006
$’000
16,749

At fair value:
Loans payable to subsidiaries (Note 3(b))
Balance at beginning of year
Changes in accounting policy - FRS 39
Net amounts advanced during the year
Less: Reclassified to amounts due from
subsidiaries (Note 13)
Interest expense recognised in income statement
Balance at end of year

16,749
34,309

162,243
(6,127)
(4,676)

(7,435)
831
44,454

(135,914)
1,223
16,749

Current portion
Non-current portion
Total payables

31,276
13,178
44,454

2,152
14,597
16,749

21 SHARE CAPITAL
THE GROUP & THE COMPANY
Number of
ordinary shares
$’000
2007

2006

2007

2006

863,833,482

862,833,482

144,556

86,283

-

1,000,000

-

180

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of year
Employee share option scheme
- proceeds from shares issued
Transfer of share premium and
capital redemption reserve balances
At end of year

-

-

-

58,093

863,833,482

863,833,482

144,556

144,556

With the changes to the Companies Act, Cap. 50, effective from 30 January 2006, there is the
removal of the concept of par value and authorised capital and there is no share premium account.
The Company had a share premium account balance of $57,148,000 during the year ended 31
March 2006. This amount has now been included in share capital as required by the changes to
the Companies Act.
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22 REVENUE

Sale of apartments
Sale of goods
Rendering of services
Total

23 STAFF COSTS

Staff costs including directors
Costs of defined contribution plans included in staff costs

THE GROUP
2007
$’000
85,162
85,228
127,586
297,976

2006
$’000
86,168
129,676
215,844

THE GROUP
2007
$’000
87,073

2006
$’000
89,594

5,542

5,683

24 OTHER EXPENSES
Other expenses include the following:
THE GROUP

Non-audit fees:
Auditors of the Company
Other auditors
Commission and reservation expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Utilities
Property taxes and rates
Advertising and promotion

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

38
7,261
5,947
5,717
4,101
3,483

46
7,180
5,994
6,629
3,537
3,765
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25 FINANCIAL INCOME

Dividend income on quoted investments
Interest income from non-related companies
Provision for doubtful trade receivables written back
Foreign exchange translation gains
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments
Gain on revaluation of current investments
Gains from disposal of current investments

26 FINANCIAL EXPENSE

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments
Loss on disposal of unquoted investments
Provision for doubtful trade receivables
Interest expense to non-related companies

27 OTHER CREDITS/(CHARGES)

Gain on disposal of investment properties held for sale
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Inventories written off

84

A n n u a l

R e p o r t

2 0 0 6 / 0 7

THE GROUP
2007
$’000
217
3,265
788
57
359
4,686

2006
$’000
231
2,941
22
170
264
217
487
4,332

THE GROUP
2007
$’000
29
16,837
16,866

2006
$’000
167
114
16,643
16,924

THE GROUP
2007
$’000
3,357
36
(52)
3,341

2006
$’000
5,128
(1)
(5)
5,122

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

28 INCOME TAX

Current
Deferred
Total income tax expense

THE GROUP
2007
2006
$’000
$’000
33
65
33
65

The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying
the Singapore income tax rate of 18% (2006: 20%) to profit before income tax as a result of the
following differences:
THE GROUP
2007
2006
$’000
$’000
Income tax expense at statutory rate
6,010
4,179
Non-taxable items
(7,839)
(1,776)
Utilisation of deferred tax benefits previously not recognised
(5,875)
(2,840)
Deferred tax benefits arising in current year not recognised
3,520
584
Tax exemptions
(49)
(11)
Effect of different tax rates of overseas operations
804
(75)
Effect of changes in tax rates
3,517
Others (less than 3%)
7
Over/(under) provision for prior years
(55)
(3)
Total income tax expense
33
65
There are no income tax consequences of dividends to shareholders of the Company.
The Group has tax loss carryforwards available for offsetting against future taxable income as
follows:
THE GROUP
2007
2006
$’000
$’000
Amount at beginning of year
100,982
119,154
Amount from prior years
29,554
Amount in current year
13,605
7,210
Amount utilised in current year
(32,628)
(14,204)
Currency realignment
5,872
(11,178)
Amount at end of year
117,385
100,982
Deferred tax benefit on above unrecorded

21,129

20,196

The realisation of future income tax benefits from tax loss carryforwards is available for an unlimited
future period subject to the conditions imposed by law including the retention of majority
shareholders as defined. It is impracticable to estimate the amount expected to be settled or used
within one year.
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29 EARNINGS PER SHARE
THE GROUP
2007
Basic
Profit attributable to shareholders

2006
Diluted

Basic

Diluted

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

33,355

33,355

20,831

20,831

No. of shares ('000)

No. of shares ('000)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares

863,833

863,833

863,012

863,012

-

-

-

-

863,833

863,833

863,012

863,012

3.86

3.86

2.41

2.41

Adjustment for potential dilutive
ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares used to compute earnings
per share
Earnings per share (cents)

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during each period. The diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of
ordinary shares and dilutive ordinary share equivalents outstanding during each period.The ordinary
share equivalents included in these calculations are ordinary shares issuable upon assumed exercise
of share options which would have a dilutive effect.

30 DIVIDENDS
During the financial year, a final dividend of 2.0 cents and a special dividend of 1.0 cent per
ordinary share less tax totalling $20,732,000 was paid in respect of dividends approved for financial
year 2006.
In respect of the current year, the directors propose that a final dividend be paid at 2.0 cents and
a special dividend be paid at 1.0 cent per ordinary share less tax totalling $21,250,000 for the
financial year just ended on ordinary shares of the Company. The proposed dividend is subject
to approval by the shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting to be convened and has not
been included as a liability in the financial statements.
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31 BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group operates primarily in hotel owning and management,
property development and investment, and trading business segments. “Others” represent investment
income from the Group’s cash reserves and management fee charged to a related party.
The Group’s activities are based in Singapore, Australia and New Zealand.
Hotel
Property
Owning & Development &
Management
Investment

2007
REVENUE
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Trading

Eliminations Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

198,519
198,519

87,101
394
87,495

12,084
116
12,200

(510)
(510)

297,704
297,704
272
297,976

12,185

657

-

45,940
(3,713)
42,227
4,686
(16,866)
3,341
33,388
(33)
33,355

Unallocated corporate revenue
Total revenue
RESULTS
Segment results
33,098
Unallocated corporate expenses
Profit from operations
Financial income
Financial expense
Other credits/(charges)
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit after tax

Hotel
Property
Owning & Development &
Management
Investment

OTHER INFORMATION
Capital additions
Depreciation
ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets
Total

Trading

Others

Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

16,843
13,176

20
168

48
11

76
151

16,987
13,506

534,507

128,980

3,127

-

666,614
63,397
730,011

2,572

1,113

-

28,210
281,585
309,795

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
24,525
Unallocated corporate liabilities
Total
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31 BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(Cont'd)
Hotel
Property
Owning & Development &
Management
Investment

2006
REVENUE
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Trading

Eliminations Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

203,526
203,526

1,421
393
1,814

10,760
125
10,885

(518)
(518)

215,707
215,707
137
215,844

(259)

220

-

31,486
(3,120)
28,366
4,332
(16,924)
5,122
20,896
(65)
20,831

Unallocated corporate revenue
Total revenue
RESULTS
Segment results
31,525
Unallocated corporate expenses
Profit from operations
Financial income
Financial expense
Other credits/(charges)
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit after tax

Hotel
Property
Owning & Development &
Management
Investment

$’000
OTHER INFORMATION
Capital additions
Depreciation
ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets
Total

A n n u a l
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Trading

Others

Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

5,448
13,573

313
1,174

6
15

24
157

5,791
14,919

480,833

130,756

2,315

-

613,904
44,770
658,674

6,509

826

-

26,862
244,692
271,554

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
19,527
Unallocated corporate liabilities
Total
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31 BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(Cont'd)
GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective
of the origin of the goods/services:
Sales revenue by
geographical market
2007
2006
$’000
$’000
Singapore
13,014
11,554
Australia
275,321
182,341
New Zealand
9,641
21,949
297,976
215,844

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets and capital additions analysed
by the geographical areas in which the assets are located:
Carrying amount
of segment assets
2007

Capital additions

2006

2007

2006

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Singapore

97,219

77,902

125

30

Australia

500,808

507,379

5,066

5,528

New Zealand

131,984

73,393

11,796

233

Total

730,011

658,674

16,987

5,791

32 BANKING LIABILITIES

THE GROUP
2007
2006
$’000
$’000

THE COMPANY
2007
2006
$’000
$’000

Bankers' guarantees in favour
of subsidiaries

-

-

248,489

198,578

These represent corporate guarantees in favour of subsidiaries granted to cover banking facilities
extended to the subsidiaries.
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33 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
THE GROUP

Estimated amounts committed for future capital expenditure
but not provided for in the financial statements
Authorised but not yet contracted for

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

78,285

22,783

Nil

Nil

34 CHANGES AND ADOPTION OF FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
For the year ended 31 March 2007, the following new or revised Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards were adopted for the first time. The new or revised standards did not require any
modification of the measurement method or the presentation in the financial statements:
FRS No.

Title

FRS 1
FRS 16
FRS 19

Presentation of Financial Statements
Property, Plant and Equipment
Employee Benefits – Amendments relating to actuarial gains and losses, group plans and
disclosures
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates – Amendments relating to net
investment in a foreign operation
Related Party Disclosures
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Intangible Assets
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Amendments relating to cash
flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions. Amendments relating to financial
guarantee contracts
First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards – Amendments relating to comparative
disclosures for FRS 106 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources (*)
Implementation Guidance (*)
Insurance Contracts (*)
Implementation Guidance (*)
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources (*)
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease (*)
Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental
Rehabilitation Funds (*)
Applying the Restatement Approach under FRS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies (*)
Scope of FRS 102 (*)
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (*)
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

FRS 21
FRS 24
FRS 32
FRS 37
FRS 38
FRS 39

FRS 101
FRS 101
FRS 104
FRS 104
FRS 106
INT FRS 104
INT FRS 105
INT FRS 107
INT FRS 108
INT FRS 109
INT FRS 110

(*) Not relevant to the entity.
90

A n n u a l

R e p o r t

2 0 0 6 / 0 7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

35 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The following new or revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards that have been issued will
be effective in future. The transfer to the new or revised standards from the effective dates may
result in material adjustments to the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows for the
following year:
Effective date for periods
beginning on or after

FRS No.

Title

FRS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements Amendments relating to capital disclosures
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Income Taxes
Segment Reporting
Leases
Employee Benefits
Financial Instruments: Presentation
Earnings per Share
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Implementation Guidance
Investment Property
First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards
Implementation Guidance
Share-based Payment
Business Combinations
Insurance Contracts
Implementation Guidance - Revisions relating to
FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Financial Instruments: Disclosures Implementation Guidance
Operating Segments
Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
FRS 102 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions
Service Concession Arrangements

FRS 10
FRS 12
FRS 14
FRS 17
FRS 19
FRS 32
FRS 33
FRS 39
FRS 39
FRS 40
FRS 101
FRS 101
FRS 102
FRS 103
FRS 104
FRS 104
FRS 107
FRS 108
INT FRS 105
INT FRS 111
INT FRS 112

1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2007
1.1.2009
1.1.2007
1.3.2007
1.1.2008

F i n a n c i a l

S t a t e m e n t s
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2007

36 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES, RECLASSIFICATIONS
AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES
(a) FRS 40 Investment Property
The Company opted to apply FRS 40 Investment Property, effective from 1.1.2007 for the
year 2007. For investment properties valued using the cost model, FRS 40 Investment Property
requires that after initial recognition at cost including transaction costs, the cost model is used
to measure the investment property at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The change in accounting policy is applied retrospectively. The effects from
the change in policy are as follows:

Increase in investment properties in balance sheet
Decrease in property, plant and equipment in balance sheet

2007
$’000
6,978
(6,978)

2006
$’000
-

(b)FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
The amendments require financial guarantee contracts to be recognised and measured initially
at fair value, and subsequently at the higher of the amount recognised as a provision and the
amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation in accordance with the revenue
recognition policies.The changes introduced by these amendments are applied by the Company
with effect from the beginning of the comparative reporting period presented in the financial
statements (that is, with effect from 1 April 2005). Financial guarantee contracts are now
recognised and measured accordingly. The amounts involved are as follows:
THE COMPANY

At Inception:
Investments in subsidiaries
Guarantee liability
Deferred tax asset
Fair value adjustment reserve
Amount amortised during the year:
Guarantee income
Guarantee liability
Exchange loss
Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax expense

Increased/(decreased) by
2007
$’000
1,899
1,958
353
294

412
(332)
66
(60)
74

This change in accounting policy has no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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SHAREHOLDINGS STATISTICS
As at 14 June 2007

NUMBER OF SHARES IN ISSUE

:

863,833,482

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

:

9,352

CLASS OF SHARES

:

Ordinary Shares

VOTING RIGHT

:

Every member who is present in person or by proxy shall
have one vote on a show of hands. On a poll, every member
shall have one vote per share. At any general meeting,
voting shall be by show of hands unless before or on the
declaration of the result, a poll is demanded in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

BREAKDOWN OF SHAREHOLDINGS BY RANGE
Size of
Shareholdings

1 - 999
1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above
Total

No. of
Shareholders

% of
Shareholders

No. of
Shares

% of Issued
Share Capital

79
5,019
4,213
41
9,352

0.84
53.67
45.05
0.44
100.00

34,774
31,230,596
204,227,450
628,340,662
863,833,482

0.00
3.62
23.64
72.74
100.00

S h a r e h o l d i n g s

S t a t i s t i c s
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SHAREHOLDINGS STATISTICS
As at 14 June 2007

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No. Name of Shareholder
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

No. of Shares

% of Issued
Share Capital

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD
TAN GIM TEE HOLDINGS PTE LTD
RAFFLES NOMINEES PTE LTD
OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
OW CHIO KIAT
HAI SUN HUP GROUP PTE LTD
SELECTED HOLDINGS PTE LTD
MARITIME PROPERTIES PTE LTD
KAMBAU PTE LTD
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD
PANG HENG KWEE
HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD
CIMB-GK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD
DAIICHI CHUO KISEN KAISHA
KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.
SIONG LIM PRIVATE LIMITED

323,341,000
49,778,500
48,061,500
26,400,000
17,533,500
17,407,000
14,000,000
12,400,000
12,100,000
9,776,000
9,500,000
8,489,000
7,300,000
5,947,000
5,876,000
5,493,662
5,466,500
5,000,000
4,399,000
4,000,000

37.43
5.76
5.56
3.06
2.03
2.01
1.62
1.44
1.40
1.13
1.10
0.98
0.85
0.69
0.68
0.64
0.63
0.58
0.51
0.46

TOTAL

592,268,662

68.56

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER
Direct Interest
% of Issued
No. of Shares
Share Capital
Ow Chio Kiat

14,000,000

1.621

Deemed Interest
% of Issued
No. of Shares
Share Capital
323,268,000*

37.422

*Mr Ow Chio Kiat is deemed to have an interest in the shares owned by his spouse, Madam Lim Siew Feng (30,000 shares), his
son, Ow Yew Heng (10,000,000 shares), held and pledged to UBS AG (registered with Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd),
his daughter, Ow Yi Ling (9,341,000 shares) held and pledged to UBS AG (registered with Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte
Ltd), and the shares owned by Hai Sun Hup Group Pte Ltd (12,400,000 shares), and Maritime Properties Pte Ltd (9,776,000
shares) and Cougar Express Logistics Pte Ltd (250,000 shares) by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act. He is also deemed
to be interested in the shares pledged to UBS AG (registered with Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd) (281,471,000 shares).

SHAREHOLDINGS IN THE HANDS OF THE PUBLIC AS AT 14 JUNE 2007
Based on the information provided to the best of the knowledge of the directors, substantial shareholder
and controlling shareholder of the Company and its subsidiaries, approximately 57.47% of the issued
share capital of the Company is held by the public. Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited which requires that at least 10% of the equity securities (excluding
preference share and convertible equity securities) of a listed company in a class that is listed is at all
times held by the public, has been complied with.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
AND BOOKS CLOSURE
STAMFORD LAND CORPORATION LTD
(Company Registration No. 197701615H)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

To: All Shareholders

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Twenty-ninth Annual General Meeting of Stamford Land
Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) will be held at Ballroom 1 Level 3, Amara Hotel, 165 Tanjong Pagar Road,
Singapore 088539 on Monday, 30 July 2007 at 2.30 p.m. to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2007 and
the Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon.
(Resolution 1)

2.

To declare a First and Final Dividend of 2 cents per ordinary share and a special dividend of 1 cent per
ordinary share, less 18% Singapore income tax, for the financial year ended 31 March 2007.
(Resolution 2)

3.

To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of $190,000 for the financial year ended 31 March 2007.
(Resolution 3)

4.

(i) To re-elect the following directors retiring pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company:
Article 91
(a) Mr Ow Chio Kiat
(b) Mr Wong Hung Khim

(Resolution 4)
(Resolution 5)

Mr Wong Hung Khim will, upon re-election as a director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit Committee and will
be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited.

(ii)

To note the retirement of Mr Harold Foo Chee Hiang, the Director retiring pursuant to Article 91 of the
Articles of Association of the Company.

5.

To re-appoint Messrs RSM Chio Lim as auditors of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of
the next Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
(Resolution 6)

N o t i c e
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
AND BOOKS CLOSURE (CONT’D)
SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without modifications, the following resolutions as ORDINARY
RESOLUTIONS:
6.

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the
Directors of the Company to issue shares in the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus
or otherwise) at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons
as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided that:-

(i)

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution does not exceed 50 per cent. of
the issued share capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below), of
which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders
of the Company does not exceed 20 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company (as calculated
in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below);

(ii)

(subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining
the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (i) above, the percentage of issued
share capital is based on the issuer’s share capital at the time this resolution is passed, after adjusting for:
(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or share options or vesting
of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed; and
(b) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(iii) in exercising the authority conferred by this resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived
by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company;
(iv) unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred by this Resolution
shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the
date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever
is the earlier.
Note: This resolution, if passed, will empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company up to an amount not exceeding
in total 50 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company, with a sub-limit of 20 per cent. for shares issued other than on a
pro rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company.

(Resolution 7)
7.
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That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorized to offer and grant options in accordance
with the provisions of the Stamford Land Corporation Ltd Share Option Plan (the “Share Option Plan”)
and to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares as may be required to be issued pursuant
to the exercise of the options under the Share Option Plan, provided that the aggregate number of shares
to be issued pursuant to the Share Option Plan and the Performance Share Plan (as defined below) shall
not exceed fifteen (15) per cent. of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
(Resolution 8)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
AND BOOKS CLOSURE (CONT’D)
8.

That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to grant awards (“Awards”) of fully paidup shares in accordance with the provisions of the “Stamford Land Corporation Ltd Performance Share
Plan” (the “Performance Share Plan”) and to allot and issue from time to time such number of fully paidup shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of Awards under the Performance Share
Plan, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Share Option Plan and
the Performance Share Plan shall not exceed fifteen (15) per cent. of the total issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.
(Resolution 9)

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
9.

To transact any other business that may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting of the Company.

NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books, Register of Members will
be closed from 9 August 2007 to 10 August 2007, both dates inclusive. Duly completed registrable transfers
received by the Company’s Registrars, M & C Services Private Limited of 138 Robinson Road, #17-00 The
Corporate Office, Singapore 068906, up to the close of business at 5:00 p.m. on 8 August 2007 will be registered
to determine the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed dividend. In respect of shares in securities accounts
with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), the said dividend will be paid by the Company to CDP
which will in turn distribute the dividend entitlements to such holders of shares in accordance with its practice.
The proposed dividend if approved by the members at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 30 July 2007
will be paid on 21 August 2007.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

REBECCA MARIE STEPHANIE TAI-YEO HSIU ERH
Company Secretary
Singapore
13 July 2007
Notes:
A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to
attend and vote in his stead. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholdings
to be represented by each proxy. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 200 Cantonment Road,
#09-01 Southpoint, Singapore 089763 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
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PROXY FORM

IMPORTANT: FOR CPF INVESTORS ONLY
1. This Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their
CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION
ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be
used by them.
3. CPF Investors who wish to attend the meeting as Observers have
to submit their requests through their respective Agent Banks so
that their Agent Banks may register with the Company’s Registrar
(please see Note No. 7 on the reverse).

STAMFORD LAND CORPORATION LTD
(Company Registration No. 197701615H)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
I/We
of

being a member/members of the abovementioned Company, hereby appoint
Name

Address

NRIC/Passport Number

Proportion of
Shareholdings
No. of Shares

%

and/or (please delete as appropriate)
Name

Address

NRIC/Passport Number

Proportion of
Shareholdings
No. of Shares

%

as my/our proxy/proxies, to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf and, if necessary to demand a poll, at the 29th
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Ballroom 1 Level 3, Amara Hotel, 165 Tanjong Pagar Road,
Singapore 088539 on Monday, 30 July 2007 at 2.30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our
proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting as indicated
below. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion,
as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting. The authority includes the right to
demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.
Resolution No.

Ordinary Resolutions

For*

1

Adoption of Directors' Report and Audited Financial Statements

2

Declaration of Dividends

3

Approval of Directors' Fees of $190,000

4

Re-election of Ow Chio Kiat as Director

5

Re-election of Wong Hung Khim as Director

6

Re-appointment of RSM Chio Kim as Auditors

7

Authority for the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 161 of the
Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited

8

Authority for the Directors to grant options and allot shares arising from the
exercise of such options under the Share Option Plan

9

Authority for the Directors to grant Awards and allot fully paid-up shares upon
the vesting of such Awards under the Performance Share Plan

Against*

* Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick () in the box provided.

Dated this ___________ day of ____________________ 2007.

Signature(s) or Common Seal of Member(s)

Total Number of Ordinary Shares held

Important: Please Read Notes Overleaf
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NOTES
1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares
entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in
Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50), you should insert
that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in
the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If
you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register
and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you
should insert the aggregate number of shares entered against your name
in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register
of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a
proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.
2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting
of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend
and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the
Company.
3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be
invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding (expressed
as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.
4. To be effective, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be
completed and deposited at the registered office of the Company at
200 Cantonment Road, #09-01 Southpoint, Singapore 089763 not
less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the meeting.
5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be executed under
the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by
a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or
under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its
directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as
its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of
the Companies Act, Chapter 50.
7. Agent Banks acting on the request of the CPF Investors who wish to
attend the meeting as Observers are requested to submit in writing, a
list with details of the investors' names, NRIC/passport numbers,
addresses and number of shares held. The list, signed by an authorized
signatory of the Agent Bank, should reach the Company's Registrar
at least 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting.
GENERAL
The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a
proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the
instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a
proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository
Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or
proxies lodged, if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have
shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certified by The
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

200 Cantonment Road #09-01 Southpoint Singapore 089763
Tel: (65) 6236 6888 Fax: (65) 6236 6250 www.stamfordland.com
Company Registration No.:197701615H

